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To THE SENATE OF TRE UNt'rzn'Smsz

In compliance \uth a x'csolutuon of the Senate, of the 26th of Aprll,
requesting the President of the United States ¢ to communicate to the
Senate the report of the Atiorney General, relative to any persons
(citizens of the United’ ‘States) who have- been charged with, or sus-
pected of, intreducing any slaves into'the United States, contrary to
existing laws,” I transmlt hercw;th two reports from the. Attorney

General. ;-
N . ‘JAMES MGNROE.
Washington, 6th May, 1822.






. OrFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL oF THE U, 8.
: ' L February 2d, 1820.
-~ 81r: The slaves to which Governor Clark alludes, having been im=
ported prior to the act of the 3d March, 1819, do not full within the
sphere of the powers a= Suties assigned to the President by the first
and second sections of tni. ict.. These slaves appear to have been
introduced in the fall of 1817, or in the following winter, at which
time, by the laws of the United States, tliey were subject to be dis-
posed of by the laws of the several states.  If they werenot proceed-
ed against under the state laws, I understand that proceedings may
now be had against them, under the 4th section of the act of Congress, -
of 3d"March, 1819, which provides ¢ that, when information shali
be lodged with the attorney for the district of any state or territory, -
_that any negro, &c. has been imported therein, contrary to the provi-
sions of the acts in such case made and provided, it shall be the duty
of the attorney forthwith to commence a prosecution by information,
and process willissue against the person charged with holding such ne-
gro, &c.and, if it shall be ascertained-by the verdict of 2 jury thatsuch
negro, &c. has been brought in, contrary to the true intent and meaning
-of the acts, &c. then the court shall direct the marshal of the said dis-
trict to take the said negro, &c. into. his custedy for safe keeping,
“subject to “the orders of the President,” &c.: 1 understand this sec..
tion of the act of 1819, as applying to all negroes theretofore brought:
" in, against the provisions of any of the acts of Congress on .the sub-
jecty who had not been disposed ‘of previously by the state laws; and,
" consequently, that if these negroes are in this prédicament, and are
now in any state or territory of the United States, proceedings may.
_still be had. against them under that section; but that the President.
has nothing to do-with them, until they shali, by the judgment of a
court, be.placed in the hands of the marshal, subject to the orders of "
the Présitfe’nt; and that, when so placed in the marshal’s hands, the .
President may order them,. if he:pleases, to the coast of Africa, under
the spirit of the act in which this 4th sectionis found, =~ . 7 .
I think, also, that it is due both te the government and General
‘Mitchell, that a prosecution should be instituted against him for the
penalty given by. the laws of the United States for the importation of -
- slaves. - Such a prosecution will give him an opportunity of acquitting
himself, if innocent, and will inflict a just. punishment on him, if
ivs‘.“'W‘ith respect to the propriety of submitting this case to Congress, .
in their call for information as to the practices in.evasion or viola-
tion of ourslave laws, Governor Clark’s communication appears to .
me to come directly within.the object of the call, and, being derived
ol s0 respectable a source as thc Governor of the state of Georgia,
I cannet perceive with what propriety it can be withheld. . .
.7+ . 'Ibavethehonor,&c. &c, - . o
Sl ens s WML WIRT.
“The PresipeNTorTee U. 8. = AR
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‘ S e of the dttorncy General of the United S.tatcs,\
o A o 21st Junuairy, 118"21.'

S T proceeded, on the 1st instant, according to appointment, to
" take ap the case of General David B. Mitchedl, the ag_cni of the
“United States for Indian affairs, at the Creek agency, under a charge
‘frow Governar Clark, of Georgias that be was concerned in the un-
lawful importation of Africans, in breach of our laws, in the winter
“of 1817-18; and have now the honor of reporting to you, according
to your direction, my opinion, both of the Jaw and the facts of thie.
L CASe. . . ) . ’ o " .
“I'lie-only law of -the United States which has any bearing on the
“conduct of General Mitehell, iy the: act of Congress of the 2d of
Muarch, 1807, entitled ¢ An act to prohibit the importation of slaves
into any port or place within the jurisdiction of the -United Stules {rom
and after the first day of January, 1808.”  I'his act, after i'nﬁicting
severe penalties on any who shall, after that day, import, or aid in
Cimporting, any negroy &c. to any portor place within the jurisdiction
" of the United States, with the view of selling them, or holding them
in service o labor, proceeds’ to declare, amuong other things, in the.
" 4th section,” that. « perther the imporier, nor any person or persons
claiming from or under him. shall hold any right or_title whatever, to
~any negro, mulatto, or person of color, nor to the service or labor there-
of, who way be imported or brought within: the United Stales, or terri-
Hories ther- ofy in violation of this law; but the same shall remain sub-
ject ta any regulations, not cuntravening the provisions of this act,
which the legislatures of the several states or territories, at any time
HEREAFTER may make for disposing of any such negro, mulatto, or”
~person of color.”” This section of the act does not provide what shall
“be done with the persons thus imported, in case the legislatures of
the several staies shall not thereafter have made any vegulation for
“disposing of them: but the 7th sectivn of the same act, alter authoriz.
ing the seizures to bemade by the armed véssels of the United States
ol any vesscls with slaves on board, that may be found hovering on
the coast, and giviug a moiety of the forfeiture to those who make the:
seiztire, provides, that, in order to entitle them to. such moiety, the
oflicers, &c. shall safe keep every negro, &c. found on board, &c. and
shiall deliver every such negro, &c. to such person or persons as shall
be appointed by the respective states to receive the same, * qaid if no’
such persan or persons shall be appainted by the vespective slutes, they .
shall deliver evrry such negro, &c. o the overseers of the poor of the
port or place where such ship or vessel muy be bronght or found, and
shall immediately transmit {o the Governor or chief magistrate of the
state, an account of their proceedings, together with the number of such .
negroes, &c. awld a descriptive list of the same, thal he may groe di-
rections respecting such negroes,”® &e. It is true, that this directory
pravision is confined, in terms, to the officers. and men of  the armed
vessels of the United States, making scizures of slave vessels on the
cuant, Yoty as it forins a part of the same act with the scction before
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in part quoted, and contains the only direction in the act as to what
ghall be done with negroes, &c. seized, where the state shall not, by
its laws, have pointed out a person to reccive them, it may be well
considered as incorporated with the 4th section, as supplying its de-
fects, and giving the rule of action in the analogous case of a seizure
on lanil, so far as the direction could be carried into effect, under the
circumstances of such a case.  For example, in the case of a seizure
made in the Indian country, where no counties were yet organized,
and where there were no overseers of the poor; that part of the direc-
tion which orders a delivery of the negroes to the overseers of the
poor could not be carried into effect; hut that part of it which re-
quires an immediate veport to the Governor of the state, could have
been carried into effect; and the direction ought to be respected, as an
expregsion of the purpose of Congress, where the state had omitted
to provide persons for the function in question,  Yet this construction
of the act is not s0 obvious or necessary as to attach guilt to any
mun who, having made a seizurc by land, shall have omitted to
adopt and act upon it.  But the 4th section, taken by itself, and with-
out any reference to the 7th, in divesting the importer of all title to
the negroes, and subjecting them to be disposed of according to the le-
gul regulutions of the state, would seem very naturally to advertize the
sazor that the Governor of the state, ofticially charged with the exe-
cution of laws of the state, ought to be forthwith apprized of the
seizure, and its circumstances, that he might give direction respect-
ing such negroes. :

‘The act of Congress, thus referring the disposal of slaves, illicitly
imported, to the vegulations which should thereafter be made by the
legislatures of the several states, leads us to inquire, in the next
place, whether the legislature of the state of Georgia, the theatre of
the transactions under consideration, had made the regulations con-
templated by the act of Congress.

The constitution of the state of Georgia, of the year 1798, forbade
the future importation of slaves from Africa, or any foreign place,
after the first day of QOcteber following. There have been several
prohibitory acts of the legislature of that state, both before and since
the act of Congress, under very severe penalties; some of them,
enacted just before the occurrence under review, madec the importa-
tion a penitentiary offence, But all these acts stopped at the inflic-
tion of the penalty, leaving the importer still in possession of the
slaves. I can find no act of the legislature of Georgia, in the volumes
furnished from the Department of State, which connected itself with
the act of Congress, of 1807, by providing the regulation therein con-
templated, for the disposal of the negroes, &c. unlawfully introduced
prior to the 19th December, 1817.  On that day, an act was passed
“ for disposing of any such negro, mulatto, or person of color, who
has been, or may hereafter be, imported or brought into this state in
violation of an act of the United States, entitled * An act to prohibit
the importation of slaves into any port or place within the jurisdic-
tion of the United States, froms and after the ist day of January.
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1808.” Tle first section of this act authorizes the Governor of the
gtate ¢ to appoint some fit and proper person to proceed to all such
ports and places, within this state, as have, or may have, or may
hereafter hold, any such negroes, &c. as may bave been, or hercalter
may be seized or condemned, under the above recited act of Congress,
and who may be subject to the control of this state, and the person
so appointed shall have full power and authority to ask, demand, &c.
all such negroey, &c. and to convey the same to Milledgeville, and
place them under the immediate conteol of the Kxecutive of this state,”
The second section of the act anthorizes the Governor to make sale
of such negroes, &c. in such manner as hemay think best calculated for
the interest of the state.  The third section authorizes the Society of
Colouization, &c. to anticipate the sale by a demand for the negraes,
&c. to be transported to Alrvica, »r any foreign place, on certain con-
ditions, and requires the Governor to aid in promoting their bene-
volent views in such manner as he may deem expedient.

"This act of the legislature of Georgia has been objected to, in its
application to this case, on several grounds:

First. That the negroes, in the case under consideration, had been
imported before the passage of the act,

T'he answer is, that the act expiressly embraces previous importa-
tions.

Second. ‘T'his feature of the act is objected to as’ex post fucto,

JAnswer. 1 the act inflicted any new penalty on the importer, ina
past case, or divested a previously vested right, the objection would
be valid; but it inflicts no new penalty, and, indeed, no penalty
whatever. It divests no previously vested right, because the act of
Congress, of 1807, had alveady declared that neither the importer,
nor any one clajming under hing, should hold any right or title what-
soever to negroes thus imported, nor to the service of them,

It is further objected, that the act of Georgia is ingonsistent with
the policy of the act of Congress.

The first answer to the objection is, that Congress, by the act of
1807, left it to the legislatures of the states to make any regulations,
for disposing of any such negro, &c. not contravening the provisions
of the act of Congress. Now, the act of Congress makes no pro-
vision as to the siate or condition; whether of freedom or slavery,
in which such negro should be left. It stops with divesting the im-
porter arid those claiming under him of all title; but the mode of dis-
posing of the negroes, &c. is left, and properly left, to the absolute
contral of the state into whose bosom they have been illicitly im-
ported: for it must have been considered that the state, immediately
affected hy the importation, ‘was most capable of judging in what
way the mischicl could be best conteracted. Nor do I perceive that
the act of Georgia can be justly charged with being inconsistent with
the policy, any more than with the express provisions, of the act of
Congress. 'The policy of the latter act was to prohibit the future
importation of slaves.  ‘The means which it adopts for this purposs
are the infliction of heavy penalties on the importer, and stripping
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him, and.all (‘!,umme; undm' lnm, of 'ﬂl tlt]e to the persons thuq 1m-’

_ported’ as slaves,  If the state law was in . onflict with cither of these
provisions, or instituted others calculated to-encourage. the importa-

_tion, it would certainly be inconsistent hoth with the pnh(‘v and pro-
visions of the actof (UH“’I(‘HS.\ But the question as to the manner
in which the negroes are to be disposed ofy after thicy have been actus

Cally impor ted, in violation of the law of Congress, is a question of
‘self-defence, of self. preservation, which Congress submlts uxtucly tn
the discretion of the state affected by it.

- In farther veply to the objection, it may he 'lsl\ul what coulcl the
shtc do, better than it has done? “Should it have provided by law
for exporting the. persons thus introduced, out of the United States
and thetervitories thiereol'? - Whither were they to be c\pmtcd? TFhere
was, then, no place provided to which the state could send: them.
Shouald they have been turned loose. as freemen in the state? The
impolicy of such a course is too paipable to find an advocate in any
‘one who'is acquainted with the condition of the slive- holding states.
Should they have been re-delivered to the persons who had’ ln-oug'ht

“them in, wider & hond o carry them out of the United States, and
oiit of the territories thereof2 "Lhe'inellicacy of such a measure has
been-set in a strong light by the several conpmunications of Geueral”
Mitchiell, which are now before me, and [ find myself unable to adda
single ilkustration of the imbecility of suchi a course, in relation to the
ob|('ct of the act of (Jmi"'l'css, 1 wilk barely suggest thaty so far from
ailing that object, it is among the lu\ppu,st courses which u;ul(l be.
dulsc(l Lo frustrate and defeat it..

I do not pereeive that the act.of (xeurgm is fml) liable to cnthcr
“of_the objections which have been taken to ity nor do L perceive that
the stul(, ‘could have uloptul a bettér or-a more liber, al course, (in
relation to the slaves themselves,) than the alternative regilations
proposed by-this-act.. It the Colonization Suuciy would undertake
to carry them out of the- conntry, to' Affica or any forcign place, the
negroes were to be delivered to them for that purpose, and the go-

- VErnor was rcquu'ul to-aid in“the execution of this benevolent pur-

"posc if: that society sliould not apply,-it remained for the state to
look -to- its own safety, by placing them in that condition in.which.
they would be the least likely to di mischiel; and the state has done”

-850, according to heir jml"ment, to wluch 'll()llL thcy an. rumttcd by

“act of (Jun"-xc.si, of 1807, - "~

Before: [ leave: the laws \\ln(‘h b(-'u- on. tlus suhjl ot it i propcr to
advert to an act of the legislature of Georgia,” which was passed: be-
fre Congriess was author ized by the Constitution to pmhlblt theim-
]'Ql‘t(\tll)ll of slaves;. and to which I'advert, not because it has, in'imy:
opinion, any fair. velatioii to the question, according’ to the-date or
thesterms of thie act, but because it has been '\'-.sumul as an auxiliavy:
guide.in-directing the conduct of General Mitchell in this case. T al-

Tude to the act.of the legislature of Georgia, of the year 179 umtlml
Stororganize the militia in the several new countics of this states” -

by thc thu-(l qu,tmn ol w; luch itis ‘enacted, ¢ That the ulhwrs of thc;
0 . .

~
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militin in the first hrigade, in the fiest division, shall be authorized
and empowered in there respectise patrol districts, to apprehend any
nezro, mwustee, ar molatto, freeman o freemen, stave or slaves, who
shall Trereafter arvive in any port of this state, from any of the West
Indine or Bahama islandss and to keep such mustees, negroes, op
mulattoes, in close and sale costody, until they ean he examined be-
fore the corporation of Savannah, or any three justices of the peace
for any of the counties Iying in the said division, who are hereby au-
thorized to cause such treeman or frecmen, slave or slaves, to be ex-
ported at the expense of the importer or ownee, which such importer
or owner is heeeby made liable fore as well as for the expense of ap-
prehending or keeping sach person® 1 learn from the statements
of General Mitehell which are hefore e, that the oflicers of the fiest
Rrigade, in the first division of the militia of Georgia, covered in lo-
cal residence the whole extent of the sea coast of Georgia; and that
this Liow, as it date and terms sufliciently indicate, was levelled at
the brigands whom the convulsions ot St. Domingo had rendered ob-
Jeets of terror, not only in that islad, but in all the neighboring
countries. -

That this act had no connection with the act of Congress of 1807,
is manifest from the following considerations, which indeed are so
padpable that they scareely require suggestion:

pste Uhat the act ol Congiress was certainly regarded by that body
as the basis of o new system, to herearved under the federal constitu-
tion far the prohibition of the whole stave trade, with whicly it was
anticipated that the states wonld co vperate. Congress acted as soon
as it was at liberty to act on this great suhject, leaving mach, how-
ever, to the future cosoperation of the states to furward the grand ob-
Jeet which they had i view. Heneeo the langnage of the 4h section
of the act of Congress of 1807, subjjecting negrocs imported in viola-
tion ol ity to such regulations s should be daereafter made by the
severad statese The state act ander consideration, was not fhereaf-
ter made, bt had passed more o ten years before the era of the
prohiltory system ander the constitution of the United States,

2, Theact of Congress of 1807, s an act universal in its opera-
tion azainst the imporctation of all persons of color from dfrica or rise-
wwhere: the state regulations, theretore, which it contemplated, were
to he the vegulatinns of connmensurate extenty whereas the act of
Geargin, under consideration, grew out ol a particular occasion; is
contined in its terms to that oceasion; to persons of color imported
or coming from the West Tidies and the Bahama istaouds, ecclusively;
and this act expired so completely with the transient events which
produced ity that, Lunderstand, it has been considered as obsolete for
twenty years.

Sdo Teis to be farther observed, that the poweer to apprehend under
this act ol tieorcia, is conlined to the militia oltlicers who covered the
sea roaxts antd, -

Ath, That the power to export is confined o the corporation of Sa-
vannah, orany three justices of tie peace for the counties lying in the
first division.
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sth. 'l‘hat thc etpmhtmn was to be, not out of the United States,
or the territovies thereof, lmt an exportation simply out u}‘ the state of
Georgin;- which, however, was to-be at the expeuse of the importer or
owner. ** which such impor tt-r or owner was thereby expressly made
liable for, as m,ll as- lm- the expense of .\ppx'chcmlmw '(md l\«.cpmg
such persons.’

I think it perfeitly cloal' tlmt this act has no b("u ing on the case.

The results of this view of the law, are:
1st. That, by the act of Congress of 1807, ﬂw importation of
“slaves from Alrica or elsewlerey into the United bt.um or-any place
within their ]mm[lctmn, is pmhlbltv(l uudm- SL‘\(‘I ¢ pe (‘unmn penal-
ties,-. - :

2d. That, by the same act, the i lmpm tery mud aH claiming umlm-
him, are decl ared to h;\vu 1o manner of title to the negroes lmpm'tvd
nor to their services.: -
~ 8, That, by thesame .wt. it.is loft to the lvn‘lsl.\hnvs of the s(af"‘;
‘to regulate the manner in which the negroes thds tuparted, ave tohe
d!‘ap(m‘(l of. N

4th "That, by these two last pmvmmns. it bv(‘umf’ the duty ofevery
good citizen, who should be apprised of a brcach of the liw, to taKe
prompt and immediate steps for the seizure of the negroes, and thy
information of the Goverunr: of the stateé,- within whi-f the seizure
should be:made, that ho nnght give (AIILLUUIH hu' thxpmuw‘ o( the
nEZroes. _

5th. That the lcglsmtm'e of Georgia had pasqed no act mak ing the.
Mulanuns contemplated by the law n! Congress of 180T, untif thv act
of thc 19th December, 1817, hefore me ntmmd to which act thmv is
not, I'conceive, any valid constitution: al objection..

I coms now to-a much more ditficult part of the sul p;v( t-flw Cacts
of the case. The vast mass of documents, couiposed of allidavits,
sometitmes on notice, sometimes ex parte, of fetlers, hcuu-mw state-

ments;” &c. the irreconcilable contradictions amous the witnesses, the-
host of certificates and.allidavits, vétiproc 1|I) assailing and support-
ing the character of these witnesses, render it next to an unpuqslhllnt_y
1nr me to come to an accurate conclusion on afl the facts of the case.:
The great advantage of the trial of facts by a jury of a vicinage,
“arises from their knowledge olthe parties and their w itnesises, anil the
oppovtunity they enjoy of observing the coartenances wnd manuers
of those witnesses while delivering in their testimony . viva woce, 1
I have none of these advantages. | haveno pu-wn.ll !\nmsl(\tlﬂ-t, ci-
ther of the accuser or the accused, orany one, of the \\mwss('s, on
the one side or on the other; aud have nothing to ‘guide me but con-
tradictory statements, or tlw statements madu by uu- parties theéme
selves, Since, however, itis your wish that 1 shoulid. proceed by
the best Kghts that 1 have, to express my opinion of the facts, lu.h.nli
do sn, \mh this consolation nmlm' this ungrateful duty, that it L
shall, unw lnmg-h. do injustice to the p.ut,v-. or cither of l!wm, by
the upnusm Fiay fovm, the whole case will pass, dguing uuder your
own review, and the error can he ¢ ur:'c'r't«-d before it ~lmN have iu-
ficted a wound. . ‘ : ,
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Fwill premises however, that copies of the evidence originally
seut on to the Departments of State and of War, composed in part
of e parte aidavits, Tetters, certificates, hearsay statements, &c,
have heen, mutoalty, furnished to the partics, with information that
the evidenee is not regular: this was done with the view 1o enable
them to petahe ite more formally, if they should think proper 1o do
so, and o give them an opportunitye mutually, fo make such stric-
tores as they pleased on the wlversary proof.  General Mitclicll de-
clines taking the prooly over againg on two grounds. sty OF tha,
dulicidty i not impractibility of taking it in better form. hecanse
ol the dispersion of the wituesses el the inpossibility of command-
ing their attendance, dn this extea jadicial proceeding, i which no
process can issue to coeree thems and, 2dy Becanse, i Gov, Clark
Bis accoser, wishes ity he can himsell take the depositions of those
witnesses {Generad Machels) anews and thus Jave all the heefit
which he could bhave devived from an ariginal cross-exmmination,
These cansiderations appear to me to he jasty, and 1 helieve it would
e i vadn to wait i the hope of getting the testimony in hetter form,
Taking the remarkhs of General Mitchell, therefores s justs and give
ing them a rcciprocal actiong Dshall consuder the evidenee on hotly
sisiesy s all objections, o regaed to form were waived as to the
aviginal allidavits, noting as e parte those only whiclh have been
since offered, so feoas b ean make the disertmination: and noting,
absoy as Dstate the documents (through the whole of which we must
necessarily travelzwuy other legak objections which strike e, to any
relice on them as proof,

Fois proper to state, belore 1 open these documents to you,_ tiat
the questions swhich they seem to me to suggest for your consideras
tion, are these: ‘ .

I, Has the conduct of Genepal Mitehell, thivonghout this (ransac-

tione heen consistent with our laws? ' .

H. Bt inconsistenty s that incousistency to be fairly and reasonably
impoted toan iunacent mistake of the Jaws, or to a willul and
constions violation of them?

111 the Batters what is the extent and character of Lis olfence ?

Ist. Was he cancerned as o partner, in the original purchase and
introdunction of the Atvicans, cither by the advance of mouey to
aid in the purchases or by an engagement to be pesponsible for
a proportion of the capitid to be advanced, by the other part-
nees: or by wnengagement, in ficu of money, to render servi-
cesy by protecting the Afvicans at the agency and favilitating
therr transter to Alabama, or otherwise, for a proportion ol the
negroes, o1 any other part of the profits of the speculation?

Al AT there was no previous wud specilic arrangement as to time
or termsy was there aprevious general understanding hetween
hitm and Bowen, or others, that if the negroes should be brought
to the agency. hie would, for a reward, protect and give them a
passport to the Afabima tervitory, or place them in a situation
to be sold 2
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34, I there was no previous general um]m-shmlnw on ﬂw sub,m-
did he, from improper lI]l)tl\(‘S‘, when the negroes were actually
hrought to the agency. connive at, and aid ina breach of oo
l.u\s. by protecting those negroes, .md giving them a passport:
to Alabama?-

1 proceed now to the documents.’ and I shall, ﬁsl, plnsont those
which appear to me to npc ate in support of the-charge, and then
those which go to repel ity interwenviug in the counpse of these state-
ments the remarks suggested by the p.ntws, as well as:those which
occur tome as avising from them; and the «)h;(tctnm.s to the docu-
ments themselves as pmml

In March, 1817, General Mitehell wsl'rnc(l the T \v(‘uhu'rh.m' of
the state of Georgia, and aceepted the appointment of Indian agent,
at the Creek agency, as the successor of Colonel Thawking, wheveup-
ony Captain John 8, Thomas, (a relation of General Mitehell™s by
aflinity.) and Captain W, S, Mitchelly the General's song (bath o
whoin arve witnesses in this te ansaction) went immedi inte Iy to reside
at the ageney, and undertnok to plant a siadl crop. of carn for the

“ageney.  See General Mitchell™s lcllm Lo the Secretary u( War, ol”
_4L\l(' arth July, 1820,
© The salary of the oftice of a Governor of (_u‘nr"‘ iy at the fime that
Geneval Mifchell resigned it, was S 2,600 per annum: that of Indian
agent at the same tnm was (qu.tl to that suml " But the Governop
was elected for two. years only; the agent was to hold during the
lllv;lsm(' ol the l’l(suh nt, that is, (lulmn‘ good hehavior.” The “sala-
ries heing cqual, the intevior honor u[’th agency may be considered
as fairly umnu'll)nldllc(‘(l by its saperior fenure: and 1 see nothing
in this circumstance, in itsell considered, to_awaken Just stspicion
against a character previously fair. Fmake this remark to-exelude any
mim nee from this step to the prejudice of Genéral Mitchell

July, 1817, Major John Loving states a conyersation \\In( I he
had with General Mitehell, to tlns effeet: Loving informed the agent
that he, Loving, was desirous of making a pm(‘lmso of Africins at
Amelia Tsland. or vlw\\h(-l('. within the Tlovidas, provided the same
could be done safely and legally: upon these points the agent's
opinion was requested; and he w s further asked, whether he would
allow Afvicans to be introduced theough the Indian country..” I’he
reply of the agent was, that he had hvt,n thinking of such purchase
himself, and th.lt Loving might bring any Alvicaus, which hie might,
purchase, through the lmlmn country w ith safe tyy lo the ageneys n'lu re
hey the agent, would prolecl thems Loving lmunj' .statt:(l that he ex
pected to mnl\c his residence at Fort Hawkins, the agent sux-;::;(‘su-ll
that the negroes might be vemoved, il Loving wished it. o the re-
serve, w hcu- he (\lm hielh thouzht llu'\ mwht be disposed of to ad-

vantage.  Their conversation then beesme move winute and detailed;
and Loving was advised what route to travel. Uhe witness says he
took a memoranduwm of the roate, buty that, having lost or mislaid it,
he cannot now trace all tie points by which he was to pass; he vecol-
lects, however, that e 'was to start from Awelia Island, and pass
Horongh the Creel: counlry, by Barnard®s, 1y t/u' azeney. : -
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Thomas L. owdward.  "This is a statement aot on oathy aod
the circumstunces which it states aree dearsay, merely, Tlhie do-
ciiinent, howeser, has been in the haoeds of General Mitehell, and
has heen toe subjpect of some remarks by hiw, wiich will be noticed
beveafter, Woodwird statess thaty sometime shortly alter General
Mitehell swas appointed agent for fudian Afairs, he (Woodward ) wag
i company with Coonel doseph fiowaed, a mos of wublemished rve.
prtationg who aswed e wiloess if B swoudd go o isast Friovida, or
Amelia bstand, to parechase advicans: the witness pephed, that he did
not wish to engage inw specatation o that sorty as the United States’
Yaw s and s ol Georgra, did not toicrate sucl teadeg and that il e
was wothing 1o engage o sl specnkavion, e had not the Tauds o
commence withe Caioned Bloward ceplicd, tiat il the witiness would,
o to that countey, tor that purpose, Geneval 10 B2 Miwhell would
Frenish bime vith money o cmd aeaw acetadn part of the profits, and
that the negroes i puechased, contd be hronght ap Uirongh the Creek
wation. by way of the ageneyo undiscovered, and then be disposed of
to the best advantage: thay this comversation ogccorred before the
negiaes were hrought to the agency by Bowen. The witness adds
to s «ategent, that while he was in Flovida with General Juckson,
Captain W SO Mitehel O presaine the agent’s son belore men-
tioned stated to i that e vad an aunt, in the low country, that
died and dete b (ifty negroes,

Chrerstran Sreclioapl, chis s anoex parte allidavit, recently re-
cetved, ard whichy therefores Generad Mitehiell bas never scen. i
is covered pnder o etter from Mo Bretthaupt o the seeretary of
Wir, dared o Mount Vintase, south Caroling, 27th December,
18207 o which the secrelay ennoeses: 0 L know M. becithaupt
woel, and his statement s conted 1o the fallest confideance,”™  "Chis
Witness sbotes thitt, in the monto or Aaguste 1817, a osbee wolur dar-
tine who bivd nede priechases Tor ae deponent at the God sades beld
at Milledgevibleg ciane to ddcponent’s Qouse i company  with
Jarved 2 Groce: thaty in the cotrse ol the conversatien, Gioce Colis
gratubated the deponent o the greeat bargains he o goi, and oy-
served that ne chrore Vhnew, howevers ol w mach better specalation,
by which a tortane coiid be peanzod ina very short time, alis words
were, ot eanad be casily dones st your means, and the scoices of
a few such men as Martin.™ deponent preplied, that he supposed
Groce o pussess e Tands e Lie purpese. Groce answered in
the negative, and said that b eomneclion sl the Erecins, ad his set-
Hing i1 dlchama, together seitl his vocent parchases, ha 1 quite exhoust-
ed thewy and that e was now opazi horrowing, * but you (meaning
the degonent wigt b now, jrocure the money, and see could do
great busive: 5" The depon nt then asked Groee what e had in
views that Geace appeared unwhing to hiselose it bty after a while,
saitd to degoaents < Do you kuow what is carrsio g on in Awmelia
Istand. ™ "Phe deponent then ansser+d that he couid guess what he
now it by Uis specalations,s tyowity the puechase of AMrican ne-
groes: that Geoce smided. 'The deponent then further ob-erved that
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“an adventure of that nature was not on]) a violation of thc Taws, but
also connected with great personal danger. o the latter, Groce ré- .
p!n‘d cither that he Im('w of a plan, or that he could suggest one, by
which no dunger was to_be apprehended. - The deponent thinks that
the first was the expression nade iise of b) Groce; and that the con-
“versation here cndvd by tln xppcmmx(b of Mr. \l.n tin, orsome oth-
er persol. :

This incident a('quu'cs swmﬁ(.uuc and xmpmtan(‘c by tlu, subsc»
quent part of this cuse, and tlacpx mmm-nt part which the swme Jared
“E. Groce acted init.

It is now proper, in the order of times to intr oduce (..mt \h!]mm
Bowen, the principal actorin:this transaction. This w('mh-nmn had:
been for some time employed in the Iudian department by Col. Haw-
“kins, the immediate predecessor of General Mitchell, as.we learn by
“General Mitchell's letter of 'the €3th December, 1817, to the: Sceee-
tacy of the 'Preasury,  John S. ‘Thonas says that he was well ac-
i qu.unt(‘d with Bowen.  What liad been the duvation und estent of
General Mitchell's previous acquaimtance 'with him, we are not in-
formed by General Mitchelly e does not speak of him, huwever, asa
stranger. Captain MLl\m. of the apmy. says: *How, orf i what
manner, Mr, Bowen was connectdtl with the Creck agent, General
\lmhcll, it is notin my power to stafe.  have heard Mr Bowen

gay that he had reeeived, some time in 1817, ten thousand dollars from .
General Mitchell, for the purposc ol puichasing goods for the Creek
Indiuns. Goods, said -to amannt b ten thousand dnlltus were distributed
Clothe  reek Indians, at-Fort Huvikins, sometiine i June or July, 1817,
by the said Bowen”  Thus lur Capt. Melving and Gen, Mitchiell, in
his letter to the Secretary of War, of the 27t of July, 1822, St.llbh, :
incidentally, that lie iad seen Bowen:in the month of July, 1817,
~ hi that same month, (tie same wionth ia which ..mmn represents
the conversation to liave, passed between General Mite helland i~
self, and oue month before the. conversation between (nnLv'uul Biei-
thaupt, in " South € ..unlm..,) Bowen says that he left Fort Hawkins to
visit-his friends in'Smnh ; .u,iin.ag thence he [.hs'(' d to Augusta, (the
“residence of Andrew Erewi m. the senior partier in the lnm of Groce
& Co. which Groee is the same Jured E. Groce, just mcunuuul.,
Thence Bowen passed to Savamiah, the vesidence of James Erwin,
the son of Andeew. and another member of the tirm of Erwin, Groce,
& Co.” Here he learns, casualiy, that great speculations were to- be.
made at Aimelia Esland, insugar aud coffee. il.n‘inq been furvished
with mieans, chiefly by the ereditol’ James Frewing to embark in those
speculations, he procecds 1o that island. Here he s that te arti-
*clesol sugar aud coffee were higlerthan. he e xpeeted, and hé detee.
‘mines to retuen to-the main. . By accident, howevers he s left by thie
vessel in which he bad intended w0 cmbark, and while he remaing.
waiting Tor another conve yanee, by another-casually, _(lln' arvival ol
- a(.ll"‘()nllet""lm'\ in one of Com. Aury’s privateers) he is induced 1o
clinnge the subject ol bis specalation. amd vests i the purchase of that,
targo of negroes the lun(l.». which Le had carvicd over to buy sugar



N 'md tnth e, lhr' nw"l'm‘s are c!olncrml m !um at a ph((‘ 'wwur mn,
hying dlmnl one !mmlw(l in namber, " LHe selects about sl\tv of the
most prime and able ones, (having p!‘nrmm! a pl.u e of" lm!wnw for the
- residues and setsout for lhv awestwird, following a small: lnlh.m trail,
Sleatling fromthe dn*t'(tmn of St. Augustine to blmt river,- wlu(‘h, acs
: mulm'f to-theanip, crosses that river at Barnard®s, - He says that
Che becwmie alaimed. for the secavify of his: ;n'upvlt\. and had detepa
mnw(l to seithe in West Flowida, With this view he proceeds for fil-
Cteew days the ough the woods and \nhle T and strikes Flint river
Labout sixty mikes e Jow thé € peek ageney, where he bee nme salarm-
Ced wgain h\ the -inteligence of ‘theSe ‘minole wars he finds himselt,-
Lapireny e pressed by lln- want of provisions; anevent. itséems, no’
2o have ba-ru annr I]Mh (l in t:"n('llm"‘ through ' wilderness witly six-
fricine, lu shagt, by the joint nlu'r-m.m of” al.um and famie,
: Ie. i induced t « uv}lw negroes to the Creek agene) Yo wlww Tie ar:
Crives uhout the heginning of l)wcmhw- lm\mgn"ucllcd by )unu(,,,
Sover the exact route which Loving States Genvead Mitcheld W have'i in-
divated to Ium, sofare as Fean (‘ullmt from coniparative descriptions,
Che the facty that his oviginal dwtm.mnn was West Florida, and-
g“ﬂml the resobution to dare ¥ lln o the AZCNCY Wis. lm' the-first time,
tuken al Flint River, by the alarim’ and humnv which presseil him at-
‘that pointy Bowen is contr !(ll(_l(‘d Dby one ol th(, men lmcd to .nsm
:lll the rermnval of e negroess - ;
“Uhis \\Itnt‘ss states, inchissaflidavit, th.u. .1! the hrms [ 1"()!1:\1‘103'
“Loves in" Fast Flor i or elose i the. nvwhlnn hood of it, he fonnd.
the negroes in possessian ol Williun, Bowen mid l.nnvs l,mw;' that
;Iw‘\\.n cmployed by Long fo assist in carvging the negroes (o lhe.
azencys thit theys Hmn e Long o and himsells with the vegroes,
“evossed the St Mavy's River at a ford called the ping log lmd and -
pmrc(‘dul with thieonegroes: folhe WIENCH, ‘whes ul thiey d(']msm (1 the
Tiegroes, atthe lower ('ml of Gen ! li,t("}x«rll,’ ield, and: \\h('r‘"‘tln‘y
Built houses for’ the negr aes,, anid pat thém to work; . a ste preertaiily.
not d« tun nl i lmi«lmss. oy - thv pr csumptum tlmt nll ﬂu S Wis dum‘ '

-'\t t|u--lnst “((‘l\ in. !)u‘('mb« o But he uhmts that arrived d[ t}wi
Sageney on the $thiof that month, when he was infor med of ‘tlw arrival
of - the” Pricans:,. tlml lw’sln'n aenight at the ageney; and saw. and
convirsed with Bowen o the, suhw(‘t - What was the naturesof ‘this .
comy ersation, tivoughoury itowill be e sale:to- k"un from:the acls
Cob the p.un-'s i lmm Uun- deck: i mnus, 1t was, cer t.uul\, not of.
Senatire fo exeite anynew alirn’in the mind of Bowei, susceptible |
s he seens to, Tiave: bvcn ol that onwtwn, notto deter him from:a

repetition ol the offence. “Fors having given” to: l,ung' lnu) the ne- -
groes s acreward for. hiss assistance incanry mq
pl wed e sets-out to Amelia Island: for tie Ju
the vesidue of Wispurchase tothe ugeney: !
Ahe watire of things to-helivve: that e wonld: have -t _
it lc.ul, umhhlunu xL toy IJ ml'un x/.c-d ln (Jul..x\llt(lu,l_ )
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Bowen's .statement in his affidavit is calculated to make the im-
pression that the negroes, when purchased, were not delivered to him
at Amelia island, but somewhere on the Main, and that when he car-
ricd off the sixty before mentioned, the residue were left on the Main.
It seems, however, that they were in fact left on Amelia island, and
to Amclia Island he proceeded. taking with him, as assistants, the
same John Oliphant already mentioned, and an Indian by the name of
Tobler. 'They left Ameliaisland with the last parcel of negroes, forty-
two in number, and carried them up to St. Mary’s viver in a boat, to
Drummond’s Landing, in East Florida, where Bowen sold four of
the negroes to Captain Drummond, .

From this point it is understood that Bowen sent on the negroes
by "Tobler and Oliphant, not intending himself, to agcompany themn
any farther, but to pass through the intervior off Georgia, where he
had business, and then to ¢ proceed by way of Milledgeville and Fort
Hawkins, to the agency, and meet the whole of the negroes.”  Be-
fore parting, however, with "Uobler and his convoy, hie addresses the
following letter to General Mitchell, which was sent by Tobler,

DruMmMoND's BLurr,
5th December, 1817,

T have got the balance of the stock that [ had left on Amelia, say
forty-two, and am just starting them under the care of Tobler,
believe I am narrowly watched, but think 1 have evaded discovery
as yet.  ‘The risk of getting this lot through, 1 believe to be more,
considerably more, than the firgf, A party wag made up for the pur-
pose of following me and Long, three days after we lelt St. Mary’s
viver.  Mr. Clark, the collector, was at his mills, and some person
lodged information that they were gone up the river and had crossed;
he offered half to the inhabitants in that neighborhood, to detect us.,
Since the people have learnt that they would not have got any part
for the detection of those last sent up, I am informed, that they ave
displeased at the collector, for the imposition that he endeavored to
practice on them, in offering what he could not perform,

A detachment.of soldiers has, for a month past, heen stationed
near Camp Pinkuney, to guard the river and prevent smuggling,

On the 25d.instant the United States took possession of Amelia
island. T had left there on the 21st instant; but am informed they
seized all the Africans they could find.  There was a-cargo of one
hundred and sixty, when I left the island, which have been vun off to
the main the night before the United States troops landed.

I cannot cannot say how the other prize property fared.

I go to Milledgeville by Savennah, and wish you to keep the ne-
groes employed, until [ can come out to the agency.

I have directed Tobler to take charge of the horses and packs, &c.
and to put the horses out in the Cane Swamp and attend to them.

T'he channel through which Africans could be had, being obstruct-
ed, they will rise considerably, notwithstanding excellent bargains
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'cnu!d be had in the purchasc ot‘ tlch that were lun oﬂ' to the Mam
from Amcha. :

X would make another purrhaqe, but my other busmesq is fno mucla
~neglected, to take, tlnc necessary. time to accnmphsh the secumy ot
them.

Laptam Thomas could have d(me we!l, if hc had have come with
me. - Prime fellows were oﬁucd at' Amelia 8230, mdm'u'y 175 to
: "00 ‘ L

- b '1m, x'cspectfully, -
S oo o o0 S Your obedient servant, -
S T U WILLIAM BOWEN
Gcncral D B Ml'rcuvn,, , L
,ntl\ .ﬂ"an j

‘ Hosldoq ﬂus ]cttm' Tnblcr was ﬁu'mshed \wth a blll of s.xlc, pm' ‘
porting to have been executed on the 4th of December, 1817, at Cam-
~den county.-in the state of Georgia, by one William Lane, by which,
for the consideration of $12,600, Lane sold to Fobler an Indian of
‘the Creek nation, forty-two negroes, whose names are stated, and.
“purporting to have heen attested by Wm. Drummond and' John
Smyth. ‘Tobler was also instructed to claim the negroes ashis own,

Stortly after Tobler and his party had scparated from Bowen,
they were met by. two men,,. whose ;ihd‘ultq h.nc been taken, and
are in substance as follows: .

Ludowick Jshiey states, that, about the ‘Mth Dccember. 1817, he
set out from his residence for the low countr ¥, .u.wmpanu,d by Jason
Brinson; that on their way, about twelve miles this side of Traders’
Hill; (the aflidavit being taken'in Telfair county,) on_St. Mary’s ri-
very on what is called Blackshear®s road,.on the 26th day of the same
month, they meta white man, by the nam® of Oliphant, and a Creek:
Indian, called Tobler, who had with them upwards of forty negroes,
which Tobler said belonged to him; that they . proceeded on to the
house of William Dewmminond, in East Florida, where they saw.
Bowen, and having informed him that the negrocs. were taking a
“very hazardous route, as. they would probably fall in with Gencral.
“Glasscock’s ar my, upon which Bowen offered to give the witness his
choice of the negroes to go and assist in conducting them to Timo-
thy Barnard’s, or to- the neighborhood of the-agency.. "The witness
observed, that he should not like to be caught there, with the negroes,
by General Mitchell; to which Bowen replied, that he believed Ge-
neral Mitchell was lus friend, and, that if the negrocs were left or
set down in the back part of the agcnt’q field, 1t should entitle- the
witness to the negro before mentioned.

Jason Brinson. 'The aflidavit of this witness supports that of ‘Ash-
ley, in every material point. ~The final answer that he xmputes to
-Bowen, for the purpose of overcoming Ashley’s apprehensions of
General Mitchell, is, that General Mitchell was his (Bowen’s) friend.
It is proper here to notice, that Bowen has acknowledged the genu-.
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-meness of the lettcr from Drummnnd’s Blnﬂ', and thc manner o[‘ his
acknowledgment is worthy of notice. "The' original letter having
_ been lost by Tobler; came into the hands of Governor Claik, through
~the agency of one William Moore. On the 50th October, Governor‘
Clark presented. this letter to Bo men. in the presence of the three
.persons named in the margin,* and demanded to know of him, whe-.
ther the letter was his hand writing.-and bove his signature? To wluch
- Bowen replicd, It is uscless for me lo deny it, as my handwriting
- so well known;” which T understood to mean, I would deny it, |l I
did not know that my handwriting could be so easily proved; but, .
since it can, it is useless for me to dt-ny it.”> . Governor Clark, howev-
er, considering the answer as evasive, pressed him by another inter-
rogatory.. . ¢ Are we to understand that you.acknowledge this letter
to be ymu"s?" to which. Bowen answered in the allirmative. ‘
' Bowcn, in his aftidavit, adinits the correctness of the statement of
‘his answers, as given by the above named witnesses. He states,
also, that he was informed, at the time, that the object of the i inquiry
‘'was not to injure him, but to ascertain General Mitchell’s connexion
‘in the affair; yet, anxious as he has since shown himself to repel the -
‘charge from General Mitchell, no solution of this incident then occur-
red to him, to remove from tlmt gentleman the suspicion which the
letter was so well calculated to excite.  Perceiving the beaving of
the letter on General Mitchell, the confession of its genuineness is -
wrung trom him with manifest reluctance, and he leaves it, for the
preseént, to explainitself. The plaumblhty of the explanition which
he afterwards offered, will be considered in its proper place.

Colonel Morgan's aﬁdumt. _ Before the arrvival of the second par-
“cel of negroes Cat the agency, and about the 20th December, 1817,
Colonel Gideon Morgan, juns-of the state of Tennessee, being on his
return’ home from Georgia, called at the agency at the xcqucst of
- Andrew Erwin, of Augusta, for the purposc of inquiring, it secms,’
if there were any negroes there, in which Mr. Erwin was interested,
the said Andrew having been wholly ignorant of the previous opera-
tions of Bowen and his son James; and-if such should be found to be
the fact, for the further purpose of removing the negroes to a place of
more safety, or making such other dlqposltmn of them as'he (Erwin,
I ‘presume,) thought most™ advantageous for the benefit of the pur- ;
“chasers. . (Colonel Mmg‘m 3 dcposntmn is stated wholly in the first .
person;  he néver mentions himself in the third person; hence, T pre- -
sume, that by therelative he, in this. seutcnrc, My, Erwin is mednt.

As Colonel Morgan’s. author ity to act in the case, he was farnishe
by Mr. Erwin with a letter, in the name of Erwin, Groce. & Co. ad-
‘dressed to General \'htchell, which is annexed to Lukmel Morgan's
affidavit, and in which not a word is said of the negroes, or:any intel-
ligible allusiov made to them. ~ Col. V.lm-qan is there represented as
““a gentleman of first rate: mtegrlty, who visits Fort liawkins.and .
the .ﬂlabama terntory on busmcss ” bhould he (qays the letter,) _‘

* 8. llockwxll Z, Innu L. Mkmsm\
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have occasion for funds, or any other services in your power, you will
confer a singular favor on me by rendering him any service in your
power. e will accept his druafls, at any sight, for any sum hemay
think proper to drawonus for.* ~ Col. Morgan, in passing Fort Haw-
kins, (which is understood as being about sixty miles from the-agen-
cy,) fell in with General Gaines, from whom he reccived a letter of
introduction to General Mitchell, couched in the following terms:
“'This ‘will be handed to yon by Colonel Gideon Morgan, who is
desirous to travel the neavest and best route to the Cherokee nation,
He has applied to me for a passport; instead of which, knowing him
to he a man of sterling worth, I take the liberty to introduce him to
you, and request you will be pleased to view him ag my friend.
Should he request a formal passport, I beg you will be pleased to
give him one.”

‘T'he character of Colonel Morgan is unimpeached. The hostility
of General Gaines to these speculatious meets us at every step.  Yet
here are the two letters which Colonel Morgan bore to the agency;
that of Mr. Erwin's, representing him as procecding to Alabama terri-
fory on businessy and that of Gen, Gaines, which represents him as re-
quiring a guide and passport to travel by the nearest and best route
to the Cherokee mation.  Colonel Morgan, in his aflidavit, represents
himsell as going home from Georgia to Tennessee, and as having
called at the agency, at the request of Mr..Erwin, on the business be-
fore mentioned.  "That General Gaines took from Colonel Morgan
himself his intended destination, is unquestionable; that his letter is
merely such a one as the standing of Colonel Morgan justified, ap-
pears equally undeniable, and that General Gaines, so far from coun-
tenancing, counteracted this transaction in every stage of it, is so far
from being denied by General Mitchell, that he seems to have been
involved in a perpetual and rather irvitated defence of himself against
the charges of General Gaines, because of the suggestions of the latter
gentlemen that he appeared either to he participating or conniving
at this breach of our laws. 1 am at a loss, therefore, to apprehend
the fairness of the following passage in a letter from General Mitchell
to the Sccretary of War, under date of the 5d of February, 1818:
¢ The truth, however. is, that so far from these negroes having been
brought here by speculators, they were claimed by gentlemen of
respectability, some of vwhom came to me with letters of introduction
from the General himself, couched in the strongest terms of friend-
ship.”  The documents before me shew no letters of introduction from
General Gaines to the agent, save anly in the single case of Colonel
Morgan; and it does not appear that this gentlemen claimed the ne-
groes as his own,

That Colonel Morgan shewed the letter of Andrew Erwin in the
name of Erwin, Groce & Ca. to General Mitchell, cannot be doubted;
hecause it constituted (according to appearances at least) the only au-
thority which Colonel Morgan had to interferc with the negroes.
Yet it is admitted by General Mitchell that he was willing to have
delivered the negroes to Colonel Morgan: Colunel Morgan verifies
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the same fact; and it is very clear that ncither bond or sccurity to
carry them out of the United States, were contemplated to be required
of Colonel Morgan as the condition of their delivery. He finally
declined, however, to have any thing to do with them; and why he
did so is very conceivable. -

The engagement in the letter of Erwin, Groce & Co. that they
would pay, at any sight, the drafts of Colonel Morgan in favor of
General Mitchell, to any amount, is certainly calculated to suggest
inquiries which it would not be easy to answer satisfactorily. Ina
case, however, so pregnant with remark, it would be a work equally
endiess and useless to commenton every-topic that presents itself.

The fact of the introduction of such a number of native Africans at
the agency, the mysterious and clandestine manner in which they
had been introduced, and the circumstance of their being fed and-sup-
ported at the expense of the agent, and protected by his authority,
-were calculated to excite suspicion and inquiry, and did excite them.
It became necessary for General Mitchell to take some step to re-
move these suspicions, and to vindicate to the government his official
purity; and both he and his assistants, Captain Thomas and Captain
Mitchell, were soon heard to gay that hie had reported the negroes to
the government, with the view oftaking their ordersin the case. This
report was a letter, written by General Mitchell to the Secretary of
the Treasury of the United States, of which an extract has been fur-
nished by General Mitchell. It bLears date on the 25th December,
1817, the same day on which Bowen wrote his letter from Drum-
mond’s Bluff to General Mitchell, and consequently before the arrival
of the second parcel of negroes at the agency. In this letter General
Mitchell says: ¢ A certain Capt. Bowen, who had been for some time
employed by Col. Hawkins in the Indian department, is now engaged
with some nercantile houses in Augusta and Savannah, and, as their
agent, has purchased; some where on the St. Mary’s, a sMALL parcel
of African negroes, ahd during my absence carried them to the
neighborhood of the agency, on their way fo the Alabama territory.”
After commenting upon the imperfection of the laws in restraint of
the evil, he proceeds to say: I told Captain Bowen I suspected him
of being the importer, upon vwhich he immediately produced a bil! of
sale for them, duly executed in Camden county, and solemnly aflirmed
that the bill of sale wasmade and executed by the agent and part own-
er of a privateer, and were actually delivered to kim in that part of
Georgia. Under these circumstances, I felt I had no other course but
to order him to carry them out of the United States; and, when I reflect-
¢d upon the facility with which such an order could be evaded, by
Jjust carrying them over the Spanish line, and re-introducing them;
and believing, too, that the negroes were actually intended for the
use of the parties interested, who, I have no doubt, are large land-hold-
ers o the Alabama, by purchase at the recent sales, and not for sale,
I declined detaining them.”  After returning to the insufficiency of
the laws, he proceeds, ¢ My knowledge of the fact that the govern-
ment had determined to suppress the present procecdings at Amelia
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Island, and thereby prevent the recurrence of the orFENCE, had some
weight with me in the present case.  Ify in your opinion, the subject.
matter of this letter, or any part of it, be of sullicient importance to be
presented for the consideration of the President, or Secretary of War,
you may so nse ity in which case I shall hope for a communication of
the opinion that may be formed of the facts stated, and for such jn.
struction as may he thought proper for the government of my con.
duct;™ that is, for the government of his conduct in any future case
tat might occurs fory as to the present case, the whole letter repre-
sents it as one which had been alveady disposed of, It could never,
I think, be infevved, feom the structure of this letter, that the negroes
were yet at the agency.  General Mitchell does not state what he
intended to doy but what he had actually done.  He says, indeed, that,
on hisg areival at the agency, which was soon after the arrivalof Capt,
Bowen and the negroes, he immediately ordered that they should not
be removeds wnlil he had lime to look into the subject; an order, by
the by, which was wholly unnecessary, il the General’s witness,
Bowen, is to be believed,  T'he General did then look tuto the sub-
jeet: e states his reflections and recollections of the laws of Georgia
and of the United States, the result of which was, to usc his own
words, ¢ 1 felt that 7 had no other course hut to order him to carry
them out of the United States.”  Then, after stating some other con.
siderations, he_ winds up the sentence by saying, ¢ 7 declined detain-
ing them.” Who could infer from this statement that the negroes were
yetdetained at the agency, and that Bowen, so far from having gone
to carry them out of the United States, had, to General Mitchell’s
knowledge, while he was writing this letter, gone back to the sea
hoard for another parcel to add to them?  Yet such are the facts, and
1 am sorry to be obliged to add, that thig letter, from its apparent
want of ingenuousness, is calculated vather to thicken than to dispel
the suspicions that antecedent ficts bad unavoidably excited.

This letter proves that General Mitchell, at the time of writing it,
kunew,

1st, That those JAfricans had been unlawfully brought into the
United States, and that Bowen's tale of the purchase in Camden
county from the owner of a privateer who had brought them in, even
it true, would not have altered the case.  He must, consequent-
Iy, have known that, under the act of Congress of 1807, neither
Bowen nor those for whom he acted, nor any person claiming under
them, could have any right or title whatever to those negroes, or to
thetre services.

2d, That certain mercantile houses in Savannah and Augusta
were intevested in them; and it Bowen had not previously informed
him, the letter from Erwin, Groce & Co, by Col. Morgan, and the
visit of that gentleman to the agency, conld not have lelt him in
ignorance of the fact, that the house of Erwin, Groce & Co. was one
at least of those houses, -

3d. He knew that these Alricans wene iutended for Mabama, and
in be settled on the lands of those gentlemen in that territory.
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4th. Gcneral Mltchell must havc known that, to carry them to-
: &labanm. was as clear a violation of the act of Lunqrcss, as to car-
' ry them-into any one of the United States; for General Mitchell is a
‘man, not_only of uncommon intelligence and acuteness, but, as it:
_appears by these documents, a lawyer by profession; and his talents,
which. are mamfcat, lea\e no doubt that he wasg a lawyer of dlstmc-‘
tion.
5th. 'llnt he had come to the conclusion tn deliver them up to -
Bowen to be carried out.of the United States, and this Wlthout any
: such bond as was afterwards. required, :
- 6th. That, under the exporting act of Gcmgla, of 1796 he was
not the person authorized to take the bond and act in the case, for
1his is his account of the mode of proceeding under that law: the
- negroes are reported to the Execcutive of the state, with a view to their
being sent out of the United States; to do this, the Executive orders
them deliveted to some one who. will e;nc, bond, with sec urity, for
their exportation.”?
" Not long after the date of this letter, and in the car ly pmt of Jan-
uary, 1818, Tobler and Oliphant aviived, with the second parcel of".
the Africans, and on the 28th of that month, General Mitchell deli-
vered forty-seven of the negroes to #¥ ‘illian” Bowen and Jar ul E.
Groce, with the lullowmg passpoxt : S

. ‘ ~ ¢ CREEK AGENC Y, 28m Jawuary, 1818
“Captain William Bowen having brought to the Creck agency,
some time since, for tynqu en Alrvican negrocs, ‘which I had detained -
_until time was afforded to inquire into the circnmstances of their trans-
portation, thrawrh the Creek nation, and the said Bowen ‘having now .
produced to me a bill of sale for the said negroes, duly executed. in
Camden County, Georgia, aund asserting that the said negroes were
purchased in that part of Georgia, and intended for settlement in the
Jdlabama TERRITORY, and not for sale; and, in order to remove all dif-
ficulty or cause of further delention, has, this day, entered into bond,
-with Jured E. Grace, as his security, binding themselv €5 to carry the

‘Eald negrocs out of the States.

‘o 1 have, therefore, caused tlic said forty -seven negl ocs to be dch-
vered to the said William Bowen and the said Jared E. Groce, for
the purpose aforcwtd, and by these presents, grant them, or citlier of
them, permission to proceed through such parts of the Creck nation
as may be necessary, and which they may find cowvenient, in convey-
mg the amd neglobs out of the United States, -~

, © “D.B. M[l‘CHLLL, 4. I 4.7

The bond is not among the dncumcnta, but. lt is a nulht}, bcc'luse'
-General Mitchell had no authority, nor even the color of :authority,
to take such a bond; and even if it had been a valid bond, the act of-
taking the negrocs ¢ out of the United States” into the Alabama ter-
-ritory would have been no breach of its: condltlon, if.the terms of the
bond comport with those of the passport. Indecd, I consider the
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'p;_\ﬁﬁptx‘ii*f, according to the fair and candid construction of its recital,
to authorize, and to have been intended to authorize, a removal of the
negroces to the JAlubama lﬁrr‘it_or_y. It is properhere to state, that this
“step was not taken, by General Mitchell, on a vague recollection of.
“the laws which related to the case; for, in his letter to Governor Ra.
_bun, of 15th February, 1818, he says that, previous to doing it, he ex.
amined the act of Congress and the laws of Georgia with some atten-
Ction.  “I'he slightest attention to which, 1 should have supposcd,
“would have convinced a man of ordinary mind that the whole pro.
eeeding was irregular and iliegal. G _ o
- 'Itis worthy of remark, that forty-seven of the Africans, only,
were delivered to Bowen and Groce, or rather to Groce, (for Bowen
dilk not procced with them towards the Alabama,) leaving still at the
“agency the forty-two brought by Toebler.” If to this latter number
" you add the five which had been delivered to Long, and carried away
- by him, (as before stated,) you will perceive that just one halfl of the
whole uumber that had bees brought to the agency were now carried
away by Groce. - Connect this fact with another, stated by Andrew
Erwin, onhis cross-examination, that when hig son advanced to
“Bowen the funds which were invesied in the purchase of those Afri-
- cans; *¢ he has been informed by James Erwin, that hie had received
fram Bowen, individual notes for about half the amount,” and you
have the interest of Krwin, Groce, & Co. fixed at one hall the num-
ber of the Africans, thus coinciding with the number taken' away by
‘Groce. Whase those individual nales were, we arc not informed; James™
Erwin says nothing about them, and Andrew says no more than |
have quoteds Ce o ‘ ‘ co ‘
It is- here proper to- call your attention to other documents which
bear on the question of General Mitchell’s interest in those negrocs.
Jolw Lambert's affidavit. This witness states that he was in the
employment of General Mitchelly at the agency, as a gardener, from
Muarch, 1817, to the latter part of December, of the samo year; he
states the arrival of the Africans; he does not know who owned them;
but he fed them with General Mitchell’s provisions, by order of Cap-
“tain Mitchell (the son.) - He further states, that he understood from
General Mitchell, Captain Mitchell, Déctor Long, William Bowen,
antd uthers, that there was a division’ made of said négroes among
“them, and a part of which was said to be General Mitchell’s, which -
part was distinguished from the othiers by a picce of yellow feret
or tape tied in- their hairy and were sent to one Michael Elliot's,
about two miles from the agency, and afterwards returned. back to
the agency and there remained when the depunent left the place.
John Otiphant’s qffiduvil.” 'This is the same witness and the same
aftidavit beforc adverted to in relation to ‘another point. He states, .
that General Mitchell and Captain Bowen frequently came to see
the negroes, after the second drove arrived. - 'T'hat some time after,
the witness discovered that thirty ov thirty-five of said negroes had
a.red flannel string tied around their ‘wrists, wlich, the witness un-
derstood, was to distinguish General ‘Mitchell’s from Mr. Bowen's;
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that, some time after this, a gentleman, they called Mr. Groce, came
and took away those that had not the red string on; these remained
and were kept at work on General Mitchell’s plantation until they
were taken by M<¢Queen M¢Intosh, &c.

You will observe, that these witnesses cannot be referring to the
same designation.  The ocenrrence to which Lambert refers, must
have taken place before the arvival of the second parcel of negroes;
that of Oliphant afterwards: besides, the color of the badge, and the
mode of wearing it, are different.

Oliphant further states, *¢ that Mr, Bowen paid him for ail his ser-
vices in bringing the negroes to the agency, and that General Mitch-
cll paid him for his attention in taking care of them and issuing to
them their provisions.” '

Itenry #Walker. This is an extract of a letter froin Mr. Walker to
Governor Clark, and consequently is not such evidence as would be
received in a court of law,

1 do not observe that this paper has been in the hands of General
Mitchell, and to crown all its imperfections, the facts which it pro-
fesses to state, are heresay merely.  The character of the writer how-
cver, is sustained by gentlemen high in oflice; and as the docuinent
will necessarily pass under your eyes, it is within the sphere of the
duty, which I understand to be assigned to me, to notice it in this re.
port, intended only for your use.

The letter is dated the 7th June, 1820; and the writer states, that
he understands General Mitchell intends, or has already taken the
testimony of certain persons in the Creek nation, te exculpate him-
sell from the charge which is now exhibited against him, and in order
that Governor Clarke might have an opportunity of availing himself
of evidence in the same place, he thinks proper to make the communi-
cation. Ile then states as follows:

“ Whilst T was at the late talk on the Chattowhochie, 1 lield a con-
versation with Mr. Doyle, marshal of the nation. on the subject of
the African business, in which he informed me, hat the accusation
against General Mitchell was, to his kuowledge, true, and that the
money which the Creeks onght 1o have received through the agent,
was paid by the agent for the Afiicans.”

Gen, M'Intosh and Doyle have both informed me, that the agent
solicited them to buy the negroes whilst they were stationed at the
agency; that they refused o do it, unless he would make titles; he
gaid ke would not do it himself but that Captein Botoen wonld.”

M’Queen M'Iutosh, the surveyor of the district of Brunswick and
port of Darien, in Georgia, having been informed that these Africans
were at the agency, proceeded to that place with 2 view of seizing
them.  He arvived four days after Groce had set out with his gang,
pursued aud overtook them about twenty miles to the westward of fort
Mitchell, on the road to the Alabama tervilory,  Groce claiined the ne-
groes as his, and was thereapon made a prisoner by M Intosh,

On his way back to the agency, he was deserted by a men of the
name of Langham, who had promised to assist him as an escort,

1
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bt who porﬁdmuqu hurrml on 1o the agcncy for the purpose of. gn’ »
Jing notice of M*Intosl?’s approach and intention, and enabling those
who had charge of the negroes there, to put them out ‘of the way,
- Several days previous to M'Intosh’s arvival, Captain Melvin, of the
fourtl infantry, states, that he had’ ubsm-\cd fifteen of -the Africans
~(the choicest of those brought to-the agency by Bowen) building huts’
~and clearing lawds at.the agency, the plantation of General Mitchell;
on the night of “’lntuqh s. return to the agency, these fifteen. \\cre”
removed dind secreted in the woods by William B. -Mitchell, the as-
Csistant agent: - M'Intosh states, that Captain Melvin accompanied
him to the negro houses of General Mitchell, about one. mile” and a
~half from the vesidence of the agent, where they found fifteen Afvic ans,
~whichy feom the severity of the cold, were suffered by him to remain
‘in those housess that on theiv retarn to tInt‘uwcvl('), he informed Capt.
Mitchell of the seizure of the fifteen Afiic .ma,.*!m replicd, that it was
aeell; Capte Mitehiell at_that fimegave no other information of any
_other Africans—6n their return to the negro hiouses next merning, for
_ theTiteen Africans, who had been seized the ev ening before, they re-
~ceived information’ from ‘the negroes, that General Mitchell’s over-
seer had the night before quppllct! a great many Africans with provi.
sions, and taken them into the woods: that Captain Melvin and him-
“sell felbupon theiv trail and _found ahoul/'f(l'm in the wooeds, who tried
to make their cscape; but were apprehiended, and the whole thirty
cwere brought to the agency; - Captain Mitchell - then delivered up
eleven small Afvicans (children I presume) froni the huts in the yard,
-Captain Mitchell, also, followed M‘lntmh after he had proceeded
abont a mile and a halt from the agency, on his return to Georgia, -
stating that he had left two or three more of the Africans ‘behind,
“and that if he would send back for thcm thw should bo dchvu'ed,
which M’Intash. declined.. : ‘
M’Intosh further states, that the \\lmlc numbcr of Al"umn% scized
at the agency was forty-one, instead of fifteen, the number réported
_to'him by Col. Brearly, which last was ‘the number given to the Colo--
nel by the agent.. That Col. B. also informed liim, that General
. Mitchell claimed: a portion of the Adricans that had been left at the
43.7‘('ncy The negroes thus seized by M’ Queen M*Intosh were carric
ed-and delivered to the collector of the port of Darvien; and some
proceedings seem to have been had against them, in the courts at 8a-
vannah; of what kind I cannot state, no copy of the u(old h.nmg
been fuuushul me. ‘
Willium Moore, qﬂidauland letters. - 1f this w:tuow is to be believ-
ed, there is anend to this question; the guilt of General Mitchell is
placed beyond doubte Thisman was a publn blacksmith at the agen-
¢y, and seems to-have been (atleast it may be helieved) of some trast
and confidence there, e states, that, h.um'r heen uquvstc(l by-
Captain Mitehell, the son, to search the (JLHC!.II s desk fur some let-
ters rom Atbutlmut. which the General was airxions to bring to the
city ol Washington, he found in his search two lettérs from Bowen to
(:unuul '\hl(.lwll of which, under asense oft public duty, he made
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copie-. and handed ‘them to Govcrnor Ciarl\e, he swears that the
orwnmls were in the hand ‘writing of Wm. Bowen, and, he believes,
arc now in the possesion of General Mitchell, if not dmtu»vd by.
him or seme othu' person at his lcquest. ’l‘hesc lcttus are as fol-
lo“s. : L o o , -

Mn.l.m)cm ILLE, 7 th .March, 18|B.

: Mr. Groce arnvc.d lxere last mght on hlS way to the Alalmm't,
and leaves this morning b) the upper route. I am- Impuy to stale
‘that Mr: G. has succeeded in bridling his tongue in some-measure; he
appears sensible of theii importance of being less communicative to the
‘inquisitive.  He has averred to me last night, by many pmtestatwns.
that he never will, in any court, div ulge any thing to_the prejudice of
“any party. and further states that he would go to all. lengths_to_scixe
any ‘of the party concerned, and. requested me to name to- you' his
_wish that you would signify your belief that he was not concerned
‘in the introduction. * From the very cccentric chavacter of Mr. G.
it would probably be well to. indulge him in this particular. “as I
fear nothing but from his apparent an“cty to convines the public,
by explanations, of his innacence, a lctter from ' you, stuting to him
‘your belicf that he 'was merely a bonds. man-for the vemoval of the
~—— would-satisfy himn. He states that if the party will justity lim,
he will not stop at any thing [in] the justification of the others. Mur.
Andrew or James Erwin will be here this day, and. 1 can be able to:
hear: on what footing the aflfaiv stands in Savannah. I cannot un-
derstand Mr. G’s c'tpl‘umtmn\ any-more than if he ‘was speaking -
Congo; however, Fhave from Mr. ‘G. that he has cmployed Mr. W,
8, l!u!lnck for an advocate.. Mr. G. presented himself to the dis-
trict attorney, and has been releascd with a certificaté that libel hds
‘been lodged against him for the illegal introduction of slaves.

1 learnt yesterday, that the governor has received a letter from’
the district attorney, informing him that the negroes would be libel-
led on the part of the United States. It seems. that the Governor
has written to the collector at Darien, \uslnng to know his opinion
-of the propricty of having the * * ¥ Jibelled in'behalf of the state of
Georgia, or letting them be libelled by M’Intosh, in behalf of
the United States; the collector inforined, that it was his opinion that
the best method for the present, was to hbel in behalf of the United
States; pms(,(‘ut(, Mr. G. and force him into explanation ol other dis-
coveries. *'T'his I have mentioned to Mr. G. who swears thut a court
shall néverdraw from him any thing detrimental to the character or .
interest of any one whatever, S

I find that it will be most prudcnt to humor the vapmcmus notmm
of that consummate fool, to secure lus, or rather prove his silence. on’

the affairs,
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I have never dreaded any thing but his imprudence; however, hope
he will now stick to what he has promised,

I am, very respectfully,
Your obedient scrvant,

WILLIAM BOWEN.,
General D. B, Myvrceurny,
Creek Jgency.

———

Muvnrencevinre, 25d March, 1818,

I wrote you last mail respecting the bills of sale, and for your
opinion of the best probable means of conducting the affaiv. I bhave
procrastinated my departure 1o Savamnal, to hear from you. [t
appears to me best, that the Tast parcel should be cliimed by me,
from a right of purchase from Tobler; his right could be made from
a purchase in Cawmden county, or from Iast Florida, as the case
may be thought most sufe: in the case of Pabler's claim, if he does
not chaim from a purchase in Camden, they cannot prove that they
ever were in the state of Georgia

Captain Thomas speaks of going to Savannal with wme, and if I
can get the whoie on board, 1 can make some apparent arrangement
with him for the twenty-eight of yours: Ishould be very glad to hear
from you as soon as possible, and it no immediate chance ofters, per-
haps Brady conld come tnagain and bear your advico.  Several of
the attorneys who have attgnded court here, have oxpressed their
opinions, that the property could uot he lost, nor be kept from me.
Very litthe is said of the matter at ally and it seems to have died away
since your publication,

Voremain, with much regapd,
Your most obedient servant,

WILLIAM BOWEN.

General D, B, Mrrceneunr,
Creek Jgency.

It is only necessary to add to these letters at present, that the cha-
racter of Moore is supported by a host of witnesses, some of whom
hold the most vespectable oflices in the state, and among the rest, by
Governor Clark himself; while, on the other hand, he'is represent-
cd as among the hasest of characters, and aftidavits have been taken
to support this representation, which will be hercafter veferred to.

Thus far the circumstauces which appear to me as going to support
the accusation.

I turn now to the evidence in defence; and as explanatory of it,
will give an epitome of General Mitchell's several communications
on the subject, for the purpose of shewing what he admits, and what
he denies; and, consceyuently, the points to which his evidence is ap-
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phed Aa I proceed with this analysis, I pmpoee, in order to pre-
vent the necessity of rcturmng to these. commumcatmns agam, to .
suggest any circumstances which strike me, as inconsistent thh tl\e
‘claim of entire innocence on the part of the agent. ‘ '
I have already presented thesubstance of the agent’s commnmca-
tion of the 25th December, 1817, and noted my objections toit. -
The next communication of the agent is,. a letter to the Secretary
‘of War, under date from the Creek Agency, the 3d February, 1818;
and, consequently, written before M¢Intosh’s seizure of the negroces,
but after the parcel under Groce had left the agency. In this let-
ter the agent ¢aters into a delence, against several accusations which:
had been lodged against him by General Gaines. with the Governor
of Georgia, and which had been. published in the Milledgeville Ga-
geite, of the 27th Jamuary, 1818, Among others, he takes .up the
subject of the Africans, thus:—s As to the ‘African negroes of which
the General spc'iks, L liave all'c‘uly commumcated the fa(.ts in x‘ela»
txon to them, to the Sccretary of the Treasury.” -
This allides to the letter of the 25th December, on which I have
ahca(ly commented, and which I think it.manifest, did not contain a
communication of the facts. “Among other things, the letier:. ‘was
written before the arrival of the second parcel of negroes, and this
being a new fact, . ln\mg occurred since the date of - that letter,. but
before the date of this which we afe now examining, ought to have
found a place in this; let us secif it does: The letter proceeds ““ and
in additivn to that communication have now only to add, that after L
had madé that communication, and on ¢he most mature rqﬂccuon and
consideration.of the act of Congress and the law of Georgia, T deemed
it best lowqmrc the purty claiming the negroes, before I permitied their.
removul, to give bund and secur Lf{/, to carry them out of the U. States;
becuse, that is the course pursied undcr the taw of l,veor w, and apr-
peared to e to be the proper course.”
"There is nothing here,. you perceive, of the pm'ccl \vluch had ar-
rived, after the (‘mmnummtum to the Sccretary of the ‘T'reasury.
i 'l‘herc is nothing said of the forty ‘odd negroes whicl yet remained;
but the statement is calculated (like that to the Secretary of the’
Treasury) to convey the idea, that all the-negroes which had arrive’
ed at the agency, at the time of its date, had been sent off out of the-
United' States, and the sequel of the statement ‘tends to confirm this
idea, - The letter proceeds, ¢ the scarcity of provision at this place,
.made  their detention c‘(tn-mcly inconvenient; and hence, T became
“anzious for their removal, otherwise 1 should have delayed acting in"
_the case, until I had received the orders of government. The ne-
- groes havmg been here, however, and my taking no care to explain
their situation to every oune I saw, left room f{or conjecture; and the
General sees in this case an mg.xmzed qysmm of opposition to him-
self, and- consequently to the public service. Tl truth, however, is, -
that so far from these negroes having been brought here by speculators,
they were claimed by gentlemen of respectability, some of whom
same to me with - letters of mtroductmn fxom the Gcneral lumsch,
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couched in the strangest terms of friendship.  I'do not know thay
the General was apprized of the object for which these gentlemen
visited the ageney; but, 1T mention the fact for two ruas(nns; first,
to shew that the General is entively in evror, when he asserts, that
negroes have been recently carrvied to the agency by speculators, by
whom a spirit of opposition is excited to his measures, injorious to
the public service; and second, because, it is my desire that you should
know every material fact which takes place here, and the fact in this
case really is, that the negroes it appears are the property of some
respectable gentiemen, purchased by an agent for their use, and not
one of them for sales and were intended  for settiement on the -ilaba-
ama, hut will now, I am confident, be carried heyond the limits of
the United Stlates,”

This is the whole of the agent’s letter of 3d February, which re-
lates to this case, and on which I think it my duty to remark : first,
that the scarcity of provisions is a new motive for-the permitting the
departure of the negroes, which finds no place in the agent’s letter of
asth December: second, that the course of proceeding under the law
of Georgia, as described in this letter, is vadically different from the
account given of it in the letter of the 25th December.  In this last
nmientioned letter, the course is represented to be, to report the ne-
groes to the Executive of the state. "Uhe Executive then gives the or.
der for their exportation, and takes the bond, &c.  5d, "That every
consideration urged for permitting the departure of the negroes, ap-
plies to them all; and the letter gives the impression that all had
gone, which is a material variance from the facts of the case.  4th,
That the General heve expresses his confident beliefy that the ne-
groes, although ariginally intended  for Alabama, would now be
carried out of the United States; the fuir meaning of which is, that
they would not be carvied to Alabama; while his passport authorized
them to be carried to that tervitory @ But, the great objection to the
communication is, that it omits to state the material Cacts which had
ocenrred, since the date of the letter of the 235th December, and be-
fore the date of the letter under consideration, to wit:  The arrival
of the secand parcel of Afrvicans, under the direction of Bowen, and
this, too, after he had had an interview with Bowen, on the arrival
of the first parcel; and second, the fact, that, at the date of the last
letter, nearly one-hall of the Africans still remained at the agency.
It is difficult to conceive, that General Mitchell was not aware, that
these were among the most suspicious facts in the case. "They ought,
therefore, to have been promptly and frankly stated, and accounted
for. 'I'he total omission to notice them, and what is worse, the giv-
ing an aspect to the case, in both these communications, calculated
to keep them out of view, and to make an erroncous impression on
the government as to the true state of the case, is, to say the least of
it, extremely untortunate.

Will it be said that, although General Mitchell, in stating, in this
Jast letter, the exportation of these people, uses and repeats the terms
* the negroes,” which ave equally applicable to them all, yet, inas-
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much as he refers to his letter of the 25th of December to the Secre-
tary of the 'Ureasury, he must be considered as alluding to the ne-
groes therein mentioned? the answer is, that even if this were a
fair view of the case, (which it certainly is not,) General Mitchell
was then bound to state, as a new and substantive set of facts, the
arrival of the second parcel, the detention of that parcel, and the
reason which existed for the discrimination he had made.  Charity,
and even credulity, cannot suppose that he thought these immaterial
facts, more especially after the sample he has given ug of what ha
thought material, in velation to the respectable gentlemen who had
come to claim these negroes, bringing letters of introduction from
Generel Gaines,

The next communication is to the Secretary of War, and bears
date, Creek Ageney, 18th February, 1818, In this letter he gives a
very acrimanious account of the proceedings of Me. Melutosh and
Captain Melvin, and says, that ¢ il they bad seized only those which
had been given up on bond and security, under the impression of that
being an unauthorized proceeding, be should not “have complained,
although he should have conceived their conduct unwarrantable; but
to seize by force these in my possession, regularly reported o the go-
verniendy and the commanding officer (Col. Brearly ) duly wolified of
the fact, and even of the fact too, of the official opinion of the dis-
trict attorney, being required in the case, and assured by me that
they should not be removed upon any terms, until that opinion was
received, or the goeernment should order the course lo be taken, I can
find no apology for their conduct.”

T'his is the first ofticial intimation from the agent of the fact, that
any portion of the negroes had been detained at the agency, yet he
speaks of them as having been regularly veported to the government.
I should have thought, from the statement, that some communication
had been made by the agent to the government other than those that
Ihave already brought to your view, were it not that he himself, in
his letters to the Secretary of War of the 25th Mavch, 1818, and
27th July, 1820, vefers to all the communications which he had made
to the government on this subject, and notices none other of prior
date to this, underconsideration, save only his letter of the 25th De-
cember, 1817, to the Sccretary of the Treasury, and of the 3d Feb-
ruary, 1818, to the Secretary of Wiy and in neither of these, as I
have shown, is there any communication of the fact, that any negroes
had heen detained at the agency; that he alludes, in this statement,
to his letter of the 25th December, 1817, as constituting the regular
report ta the govermment, I collect from the assertion which ac-
companics ity *¢and the commanding ofticer duly notified of the
fact.”  The commanding oflicer was Colonel Brearly; and General
Mitchell has proved, by Iiis son Captain Mitchell, that on the 20th
or 21st of the month of December. 1817, the General returned to
Georgin, accompanied by Captain ‘Thomas and the withess, to spend
Christinas with his family: that at Fort Hawkins be fell in with
Colonel Brearty, whom the agent informed of the Africans being at
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the agency, and of lis intention to detain them, and report the case
to government; and the witness adds, that he knows a letter wag
written to the Secretary of the I'reasury on Christmas day, report.
ing the negroes, and that he had since seen the Secretary’s answer,
The letter of the 25th December then is the letter relied on, to au-
thorize the assertion, that the negroces, detained at the agency, had
been regularly reported to the government: whereas this letter states,
that he had not detained them, but bad ordered Bowen to carry them
out of tlre United States: besides, the letter of the 25th December
could not possibly have had any allusion to the negroes which had
been detained, for their arrival at the agency occurred after the date
of that lettery the Tetter expressly related to the negroes brought
thither by Bowen himself, and for which fe then shewed @ bibl of sale
to himself—this was the parcel, according to the description in the
passport, which had been delivered to Groce; whereas, the last par.
cel, and consequently that which was detained, was covered by a bill
of sale to Tobler, the Indian. 'This represcutation of General
Mitchell, that he had reported, to the government, the negroes de.
tained at the agency, at the time of MeIntosh’s seizure, is so boldly
made, when he must have known, or at least supposed, that his com-
munications were here to confront him, that charity might have im-
puted the statement to a want of recollections but for the discovery
of the fact, that the General keeps copies of his corvespondence,  In
relation to his letter of the 25th December, 1 have nothing before
me except the extract furnished by himself, the oviginal having beeu
misplaced; so that if it contained any thing beyond this extract,
which would have justified the statement in question, (and which ex-
tract was furnished to the Department of War, for the information
of that Deparunent, as to what the General done,) the omission to
insert it is unfortunate. It is not conceivable, however, that this
is the case.

Before I leave this letter of the 18th Fehruary, it is proper to re-
mark, that, although we have it here ofticially an»ounced, for the
first time, that a part of the negroes had been delivered up, on bond,
to Groce, and the residue detained at the agency, no reason is yet
given for the discrimination, much less is any thing said of the fact
of their having been introduced in separate parcels, and the last
parcel after the agent had had an interview with Bowen.

s It is now insinnated,’ says General Mitchell in this letter, ¢ as
an excusc for this flagrant contempt, that I am interested in the ne.
groes; and, as evidence of the fact, that L have fed them, and had
them at wark; and that, whilst on their way to this place, they were
seen by some one, in fthe possession of Indians, who said they were
taking them to the agency, and a variety of other surmises cqually
lutile.”

‘Ehis word surmises is loosely used in this place; for the circum-
atances of feeding them, and having some of them at work. toge-
ther with the acts of distributing articles of clothing among them,
and administering medicine to the sick, are immediately admitted by



lm General !umsr-lf and as tn}thc fact of their bomg met in the pos-
session of an lmlmn. wlio was bri inging them to the agericy under the
superior authority of Bowen, and who in fact did’ bnng them there,.
it is in pmol, and -is not- ('unfrovel ted. 'L'hese were hot surmises,
‘therefore, but facts; and yet, facts, which, of themselves, (so far as
feeding, &c. go,) are futile, as to fixing any degrec of guilt on
General Mitchell.  "I'he most innocent and honorable man, on'whom

~such a body of helpless human beings had been lawlessly thrown,
would have arted in the same way, while they were uecessarily in
hiscare. I think, therefore, that no lmpmtance is-to be attached. tol
thesce facts of feeding cluthin y &cow Iulu the negrocs ‘were, necessari-
Iy, at the agency.

In this same letter, we mcet with General \ht( llL"’\i fivst dcnnluf
thc Lhm'wm against him; the first at least (‘ommumcated to this m,,.,
vermn('nt 1t is in these words: * Siv: T assure you upon ‘my honor,
I had no'interest whatey ery’ divectly or indirectly, in the purchase or
intraduction of those negroes; neither had I any knowledge or inform-
ation of the intention q/' the parties interested o bring them here, wntil
their actual arrival.”. Ou first reading this document, T was tran-
siently- strack with. the special form of this denial, as not covering
‘the whole-case. I dismissed it, however, as a subtlety which ought
not to be permitted to enter into the judicial consideration of such a
subject, franght with such seiious and affecting personal considera-
tions; aud should liave probably thought of it no more, but for the
p(‘l'pctual recarreice of the same forin of expression, not ouly in-the
General’s other umnmmmatmns, but in’ the aflidavits of' his witness-
es. A coincidence of expression so singular among so wany vari-
0us; mmds of different orders. naturally excited me to- attend to the
terms; and [ perccived, at once,. that the truth of the assertion’ that
General Mitchell had nothing to do with the’ original purchase or in-
troduction of these Africans, and that lie was even ignorant of ‘the in-
tention-of the parties to bring them to the agency, unul their actual ar-
rival there, was perfectly mmp.\tuhlc with a guilty connection form-
ed ‘with ‘Bowen, after the arrival of the first parcel, and W|th that
connivance which General Gaines had charged on him; and pursu-
ing this train of thought, it appeared to me that although there were
_cu'cum'st.mms tending to-the beliet of @ previous general understand-
ing, at least-between Bowen and. Mitchell, yet the .evidence was
much more strong.to. establish the probability of a subsequent connec-
tion..1tisnot necessary to stop for the purpnse of bringing together
the instances in which' this same form of cxpression recurs, in the
Tetters of General Mitchell and the affidavits of his witnesses; they
will present themselves as' we go along; and if, at least, 'you shall
“think the criticism  more ingenious .md severe than solid, you wxll
casily throw it out of your consideration of - the case. :

The -next, communication of General Mitchell is a letter of the'
19th February, 1818, addressed to the: bccrvtuy of the lrcasury;
as. 1 lmm by lcfu'cnce. which, however, is not bdoxc me..

5



~ - Onthe 25th Marvch, 1818, t!u .1gent ‘uldwqacd another lettu‘ 1o
. the Seeretary of War, in: which he answers various charges that had
been preferred against him by General Jackson, and among others
“this charge of the African’ negraes,  In thig, he goes into a state-.
ment as to thase delivered to -Groce; censures Colonel Brearly for
“certain misstatements, which he charges him to have made on. the
subject, and this the 1nove severely, because he says Colonel Brear-
Ay was fully informed of all his proceedings; and, among other
' (Inng-s, of his haviug declined houding any more, aftcr the forty-se-
Ve i consequrnce nf nmtu.slumlm" that there vwas some. difference
of apinion ds to the proper Course to be. pursued with regard lo them.”
This is the firstexplanation of the cause why the last parce! was de-
Ctained; but as they weve in his possession when the first parcel was
delivered (o Groce, we are yet to be mturnwtl \\hy thcy were not de-
divered at'the same'time.

This passage, however, calls up a stll more serious question,
When did this difference of opinion occur, and when was it made
Kknown to General Mitchell?” When he wrote to the Secret tary of W'u',
on the 5d February, he suggests no ‘such difference of opinion; he
represents the case as quite : an easy one, and gives an impression that
the whole of the negroes hid been sent out of the United States; it
was «mly Toar, or 1t the most, five days aflterwards, that. they were
scized by Mr. M'Intosh; for the Gener al’s Jetter to his son, on this .

subject, annexed to the aflidavit of the son, bears date on’the 8th of
l‘cbmar) This diffevence of opinion, then, which had (,hange(l the
General’s course as to the negroes, must have occurred and bech
made known to him between the 3d and 8th of February, of which
there is no evidence in the case, and, I fear, no probability, in fact.
Even in his letter of the 18th, he dnes not place the past detention
of these negroes, on any such difference of opinion as this; but on
the ground Zof his having reported - the case to the government (by
his letter of the 25th l)vvcmbcr) snd !m \mltm"' their orders, ov the .
opinion of the District Attorney. _

Iu the letter now under consideration (%th Mai‘(‘h, 1818,) the
agent says to the Scerctary of War, ¢ Permit.me to refterate the as-
surance already given you, that I notonly had no intevest in the pur- -
chase of these negroes, bt was entirely ignorant of the purchase and in-
troduction o 4fllu'm, till brought to the agency.” In Gen. Mitchell’s let.
ter-of the 28th April, 1818, to the bou‘cl.m of the T'reasury (of
which an extract, furnished by the General, is beforeme) he takes o
notice of the detention of a part of these negroes at the a g'cnc_) » oL
of any such ditference of opinion as that wlm h-he assigns in his let-
tcr of the 25th-of March, to the Sccwt«uy of War; on the. contra-

, he vindicates the course taken in bonding and sending sut the
n(-qmcs, as the only course, as to the. propricty of which he speaks
of wo opposing opinions,

In this letter, hie also says, © Asto the purchase and introduction of -
thuso negroess I give you my solemn assuwrance tlmt l had neither .
Kknow lcd"t‘ of, nor par tie qmtmn in either,™ ) -
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Here the commuuications of General Mitchell end, until the
charge was revived by Governor Clarke, and presented in such a
forin as made it the duty of’ government to examine it by evidence, A
Judicial investigation of the subject had now been barred by the act
of limitation of the United States,  An attempt was made to insti-
tute such a trial before the circuit court of the United States in
Greorgia, but was stopped at the threshold by the court, on the
ground of the bar by the act of limitation.  The grand jury, how-
cver, ook up the subject on general grounds, and (ounded a present-
ment on ite Uhe legisluture of the states too, expressed its indigna-
tion at the illicit continnance of the slave trade, in a report, which,
together with the prescutment of the grand jury, before mentioned,
and the gentence ol the court, have been communicated by Governor
Clarke, and are now bhefore me. ‘The government, desirous in a case
so deeply interesting to the country on one hand, and to the indivi-
dual, one of the ollicers of government thus accused. on the other,
required that the facts should be presented in the form of diffidavits,
taken on notice; a direction which was so imperfeetly executed, that
it was repeated, and in the mean time hoth the governor of Geor-
gia and General Mitchell were mutually furnished with copies of the
evidence which had been communicated by the other.

"Lhe first communication of General Mitchell with which T meet
in this new scries, is his letter to the Sccretary of War, dated the
27th July, 1820, 'This letter accompanied the General’s original evi-
dencey and comments on that, and on the accusing evidence.

On the fourth page of this lettery he makes the first communica-
tion to the government with which { have met, of the separate par-
cels of Afvicans broughtin by Bewen, in suceession. e again ad-
mits the interview with Bowen, on the arrival of the first parcel, but
says that he remained only one night at the agency, € consequently,
had no time or opportunity to make any arvangement with him on the
subject.”  What General Mitchell is represented as having said to
Loving was quite euougl, and could have heen said in a very few
minutes.  1le proceeds, ¢ Neitlier did he know that I had scized the
fiest parcel of his negroes, until the arvival of the last parcel, when
I informed him of thc fact, and detained the whole; that is to say,
that General Mitchell had seized the fivst pm'rd but Lept Bowen in
ignavance of that fact, till the avrival of the last parcel, which was
about the first. week in January, when he informed him of the fact
aud detained the whole; this statement is supported by the evidence
of Capt. Bawen, Capt. Mitchell and Capt. 'Thomas; but is perlect-
Iy irreconcilable with the agent’s letter of the 25th December, to the
Scerctapy ol the ‘Preasury, in which hie vepresents himsell as hacing
declined to dedain any of thent, but having ordered Bowen to take the
whole af them out of the United States.

In the course of this [etter, Gen. Mitchell comments on the evi-
dence furuished by Governor Clarke, and before I take up the Gene-
ral’s own evidence inovders T think it proper to <tate what he has
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said in regard to the two first witnesses presentetd in support of the
charge, Loving aud Woodwur d.

In regard to Loving. he says, in substance, that fie has no re-
collection of any such conversation as Mr, L. relates; that Mre. Lo-
ving was a strangers and that it is very improbable that he would
have given advice to astranger, which he would wot have given to
one of his own family. e stutes, also, that he has heard from
a gentleman of veracity that the very conversation which he re-
presents himself to lave had with him, (Mitehell) he had with that
gentleman, who replicd precisely in the language yehich Loving has at-
trihuted to the General: and the General leaves it to any man of senge
to detepmine whether it be veasonable that he woald have held sneh a
conversatinn with a stranger. . Who this gentlenian of veracity is, we
ave not informed by Geneeal Mitchell, We learn, however, from
the afiidavit of A Erwing that it was Capte "Thomas, one of the Ge-
neral’s assistants at the ageney, as we have seen: and Mre, Krwin
further states, that, on his sugzesting the probahility of this mistake
to Loving, he had appeaved much mortificd, and expressed his regret
at having ziven this information. The whole of which statement
Boving tatly denies ina subseipuent aflidavit, and declares to be a
Falschood destitute of all Toundation,

But these remarks of General Mucehell sugrest the following re-
Hections:  Why shoutd any wan of sense pronounce it improbable
that hie should have held sach o conversation, or given such advice
toa steangers There can be hut one answer, so fur as I pereeive,
which isy that the advice was criminal, or the course advised illegal;
Tovy if neithers there can be no veason why Gen, Mitehell should not
have held such a conversation with @ stranger as soon as with any
ather.  Gens Mitehell theny was aware, in Jduly, 1817, of the crimi-
nality or illegality of this conpses and vet his acts, with vegard to
Bowen, and the Afvicans imported by him, aresubstantinlly in unison
with the conversation which is imputed to him by Loving.

Againdis it probable thaty in acase of so mueh importance, Loving
should have mistaken Capt. ‘Thomas forr the agents and, still more,
is it probable that Thomas shonld have rendered the very answers
which Loving atteibutes to Mitchell: that ‘Phomas should have ad-
vised Loving to bring Africans to the agency, and that hey, Thomas,
would prolect them there, and give facilitics for their sale at the re-
serves Ace more especiallys when we are told by ‘homas, himself,
that the agent (whose power at the agency was sovereign,) had uni-
formly advised him o have nothing to do with such a bnsiness, for,
that those wwho did veould not only involve themselces in troubies bul
yeould alsordestroy their veputations? "U'he assumption of these answers
by Capt. Thomas may be an evidence of gallant self-devotion in be-
hatl of a friend, buty I confess, the statement surpasses my credulity,
Loving's character is most respectably supported: and, if his evi-
dence required any extrinsic circumstances to render it probable,
those circumstances would, T think, be found in the conduct of the
agent himselly in the allair of Capt. Bowen.
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Wlth r«*spnrt to tlie evidence of 'T. Woodward, \\hu‘h. as yon wdl‘
“pecullecty s ahiearsay. et.xlemontnnh from Colonel Howard, General
Mitchell observes, that, as My, W m)d\\ ard is’of respectable family -

' and connexions, and someof them his particular trwmh. he will just
observe that Col. Joseph Howard, from: \\lmm, ‘he says, he had his
~information, is living on the Alabama, aud ‘is (mt.nnl_y better ‘evis
dence than Me. Woodward, Ile thinks that Col. Howard will not
support the stitement of the w ttuess us to bringing Africans into the
United States, in violation of law. -% -1 have uo duubt (‘,.Qq Iw) but
‘that I have had "conversations with-many upon this'subject, for, at
one time, it was nmch spoken of, and some have veduced it to [)I'.IC-

tice, while othiers, tike myself, hive nnly talked of it.” :

Mr. Waoodward's stateinent of Col. Toward's. eonversation is no.
evudcnw which would be received in a court of judicature had it even.
been.on lhlﬂl.' Not being even on oath, it otght not to. have been

“offered.. Why the 'tlh(l,wlt of Col. Howard has net heen ‘taken ~on
cither side, 1 am un.xblt, to"conceive. -Gen. Mitehell wis not honnd
to take ity and yet itis a matter of sur prise to me that, l\nn\m-"- the
residence of the witness, his high stawding, and . the use \\lmh had
“been madle of his alleged conversation; the just sensibility which Gen. -
Mitchell seems to feel for his own character, had not impelled him
to call on Col. Howard to réscue hime from this imputation. :
The words which I have quoted from Gen. Mitchell above seem to
me to mean, in their i and obvious se nisey that Gen, Mitchell had,
af one time, talked of embarking in the business.  They are usml in-
relation to the conversation which Woodward, on the report of Col.
Howard, imputes to him; a conversation’ which- nnplwd his disposi--
.‘tmn, after his acceptance of the agency, to-engage in such i enter-
“prise. and to furnish funds for it.” At this time, too, le had reason
to belicve that the aflidavit of Col. Howard might be taken: .!g:unst-
“him;and how it would result was yet uncertain.

oIt was provident, therefore, to anticipate -any result of suelean
afidavit. by an explanation. "L'hie -words are to be construed inre-
fevence to the occasion and circumstances in which they awe used:
When, therefore, he sa)s ¢ Lhave uo doubt but that I have had con-

“versations with many persons upon this subject, for, at one time, it
‘was much spoken of, and some have reduced itto practice, while others,
like myself, have only talked of i1, I understand him to mean,  w hile
uﬂmc, like mysclf only tatked of doing it,"” which amounts to an
admission that he had at-oné time talked of deing it, nml is: substan- :
. nally all that either Woodward or Loving state, .
- T'proceed to General \lxtchell‘s testimony in thL m-dv:- in whic Iy

“he has offered it. '

William Bowen, .Hﬁdamt, Noa 1. He l«ft fort Haw L..lu, where

be:liad resided for some time, in July, 1817 went to Mouth Carg! ina
“to visit liis friends; after a short time, pm"oulnrl by Augusta to Sa.
vamiah; here hie entered into a mercintile partier \]n-n with Stay-
tenbry & Thorn, in a stove, to be Kept by 3:-\\(,»», in \lnllc I-r'(-\ ile:
Havmq selected: his' goods, and while employed in forw .mln.q them,
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he was informed by a friend of the great speculations which were to
be made in sugar and coffee, at Amelia Island;  determined to pro-
crastinate the opening of goods in Mlllcd'r('vlliv tll he ¢ould vigit
Awmelia Island, which he (lm‘s' (hs.q)pmnto(l in the price ol sugar
and coffee, and having been left by the vessel in which he intended
to retarn to the Main, he is detained in the island, and, (hnlng his
detention, a cargo of negroes arrvived in one of Aury's priva.
teers, which he purchases with funds furnished wholly by the credit
of Erwin & Co. and Stanterbry & Tharn.  He then details his imw

ney with the fiest parcel of these negraes to the ageney, where hieis
received by Capt. Thomas, who advises him to ])l()(‘l‘(‘ll on his route
before the arrival of Gen. Mitehell, who, if he found  the negroes
there, would probably interfere with thems: but this, he told lhuums,
was impossible, as the negroes were worn down with cold, fatigue,
and flamger, and could not move Gl their steength was veeruited
and he could procure better transportation; hf‘.sulc.s. he iold him he
had left a number of the smallest ones behind, more cxposed than e
had cxpected.

Finally, having arranged with Thomas to supply provisions for
the first parcel, he returns for the second. [not a word ol his inter
view with General Mitchell: itis obvious that this is kept studiously
out of sight.] He then proceeds to derail his operations with the
second parcel of negroes, admits that he wrote the letter from Druam-
mond's Blaff, but this was without the cansent or knowledge of
General Mitehelloit was purely to secure the passage ol the proper.
ty. should it meet difliculty: he never intended, after the avrival of
the negroes at the agencey, tor that Ietter to be produced or delivered
to the agent, and had instencted the hearer to destroy it on his arri.

val. ‘\ltcx' seeing the bewrer of ity after the negroes had arvived, he
asked him for the letter. and was answered, that it was lost in the
waoods: and, thinking that the letter would never be found, he was
<atisficd. On his arvival at the agency, he was informed by General
Mitchell that he would detain the negroes until he could be better
satisfied with the circumstances of their transportation through the
Creek nation. He then intormed General Mitchell that he had pur-
cliset the negroes in "Camden, and intended going westward with
them, [General Mitchelly in his letter of the 25th December, 1817, t0
the Secretary of the "Preasury, says, that Bowen gave him this infor-
wation at heir Sirst iuterviewe: thitt is, on the arrival of the first par-
cel, and shewed him the bill of sale). General Mitchell declared that
he should detain the negroes 0l he conld hear from the Government
an the subjret ¥inally, Jured E. Groce came o the agency with g
letter of introduction to Bowen from James Krwin, and (nuco, as
the agent of Kewin & Co.cand, for the purpaese of securing the 25,000
'(Inll.n« whiieh they had .ul\.uuo(l, entered into hond \\l(h Bn\\(n. to

carry out of the United States as wany of the negroes as he wished,
who were to he under iis control, as collateral security to the Er-
winsy a selection of forty-seven was made out of the whole parcely
and delivered to Groce on hond, as already stated, Bowen returned
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lo Gcnru;m. to pmuu sccuuty for bonding the rest, whlch wag su-
perceded by the seizure made by M¢Intosh. Ile then states w ‘hat was -
denc with the negroes after- their seizure, whichis ireclevant to our
inquiry. He then avers that Gen. MltLhcll never:had any know-
ledge of the purchase or introdnction of these negroes into the: U. States:
that he paid not one cent towurds the pure lmsv. that the whole sum
was raised through the aid of the beforementioned firiny and that

* General Mitchell knew nothing abont it until the negroes were taken-{v
the ageney, and reported by lum to the Government, 'Uhat, but for the

“interference of Gen. Mitclicll, e would probably have had his pro-
perty sale in West Florida, where it was intended that they should be -

Ccarried. ¢ Any imputation, there fore, says Bowen, that General
Mitchell was concerned - with me in thcpuuhue,c wnd n.,t)uduulzon of
that property is mere conjecture only.” :

~ Before I proceed to the cross-examination of this witness, I will |
vemark that, long before the taking of this deposition,” not -only the
letter fron Dr nmmond" Bluff, but the two Ietters purporting to have
been written.by Bowen to Gen. Mitchell, from Mlllcdgc\lllc, had
heen before the publl(‘, and had pr oduced considerable excitement.
The two last letters, if genuine, placed the guilt.of General Mitchell
beyond all doubt, @nd. were consequeritly resisted by the General and.
his friends. by every means which they could command. The’ Gene-
ral had denied, on oath, that he had ever seen such lcttcrs; his son .

-Captain Mitchell had denied, on oath, that lie had ever given Moore
that direction to search his father’s desk for letters from Avbuthnot,
from which the discovery was alleged to have praceeded; and Loth
Captain Mitchell and the (x(,neral’q clerk,. Imlay. Vanscriver, had
“sworn that they had never seen such letters in tie General’s desk,
or elsewhere, and that lhcy must have scen those, if they had heen
‘there. - Bowen had denied- the authenticity of the letters in @ hand
bill, which is annexed to his aflidavit, and declared them base fabri-
cations. ‘The reputation of William Moore, the alleged discoverer.of
these letters, 'was assailed with great vehemence. He was accused of’
having forged an order for money; from' one Timothy Barnard; of
having forged a bill of sale from "Lobler for the last parcel of negrocs,
and having attempted to suborn wilnesses to attest it. But siill the
outh of Borven, denying that he bad writlen these lelfers, was wanling,
When, theretore; in the body of the aflidavit before me, his-amind was -

~called to this subw(,t by his admission ot:the letter from Dr utnmond’s
Bluff, it is surprizing that lic did not avail himsell of the same so-
lemu occasion to do justice to himself and Gen. Mitchell, by-denying
the two' last letters which he had alveady denied in his pmnhht‘ll
hand. bill. "Ihis, however, he does not do: he says not ote word of
these letters, in the body of his aflidavit, which is the whole of his -
voluntary statement: and fo increase the suspicion wrising. from this
cncumstamo, when, on his cross examination, he is dnuilv inter-
rogated ag to these letters, he twice evades the question, ‘\Itu'rclln-r '
and, each time, $o cxactly in (he same words, that it is c’(tl'vnwiv .
dllhrult for the most candid man to resist the conviction, that thre
evasion, as welk as the form.of ity was premeditated and settled,
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He 4 aq!wd hy Gowmmr Clarke, did you not wmte the lcttcr, or
one similar to it, of the 7th Mare h, 1818, tn the agent, General 1),
B, Mitchell, which was- published in thv Journal sometime smce,
and whicli Win. Moore states he copied, &c.?
©The answer is—¢ Fhave already denied the auihentzcttj q/'tlm! lctfer,'
and I eonsider-Moore a ﬁ;rwvrrr »

Ho is-then Asl\ul, did you nnt write the lLlu'r uf tho 254 March,-
1818, &c? .
U His answer s Ilun ¢ also dmuc(l l/w(mllunmutj q/'tkat lcmr, and.

T answer us above.?” .

It was téne he hal ale vmlv disnied- the qnthmmcnty 0(' tlmse lcttm‘s,
but not on oath; it was in-a handbill. - And 1t might be true he con..
sidered Moore a forger, inregad W the two acts of forgery already
-mentioned, of “whic It he had been puhll( ly .\ruwed-—thc order from,
Barnard, and - the bill of sale from ‘1 uhlur Were Bowen now to.
state, ‘on oath, that he did weite those letters, e could not be Sonvicted

- of pevjury on.the, uucumh of those answers; for he lias not herede:
nied ‘them on oath, nor has he said any lhmg at all mt,nmpdtmlew
. vnth the fact that he did write them. .

"Are these the terms which would have lm'n usul by any. man'whnf
was in trutli- innocent of the charge of lm\mm written those iettcz'sl'.
For'my own part, the evasion appears to.me 50 gross and palpable, -
andl withal so studied, that 1 consider. it as very hU.le short of a_con.
‘fosmun. that he did ‘write the fetters,

O this crosslexamination, he states that he did ¢ once gwe Gvu,‘
: Nm,!w!! a certificate that he was not concerned ‘in- the. purchase orin-.
“troduction of these negr oes into the Uniited Stites,” - -

Heis asked ¢ o you not know thal the agent: Mpl-osscd himsell -
in a way from wwhich yik ngfcrred hw peruussum to cone; J the secour( :
gung of .’lfrzmus to the agency?” : .

The answir-is—s lh, never. wpreqqed auy apprabalwn to- mc.
Heze is another evasion; the question was not as to the: expression of
Japprobatwu. In the rest of hisgeross-examination, lie states, in sub- .
stance, that.-he'does not kvmw that General Mitchell. claims any part.
of the Africans that had been brought to the agency in his vwn right..
©He never had any conversation with : General Mitchell as to the
pm(m to be made on spcculahuus in Afrlcans, prcuuus to his tul.uw.'
“the Africans to the agency. k "

‘General Mite hell might have bccn appnscd of Lnn s, takmo‘uff,
_t]w five negr ncs. for all ho knows.  The \ntm*ss refiises to answer 8
question. concerning Jared B, Groce, (which stands connected with
_the authenticity of one of the lust of the leticrs. before mcntmnu!) o,
the ground that it velates to his and Groce's private aﬁ'azrs. R

L answer io Gene al Mitchell, Le. states the interview. \\h:ch he :
“had with the Governor at fhe tmw of his confessing that he wrote the
letter froay Divmmoud®s Blufl. - e understood from his_excellency, .
‘ .md probihly, sume'of the otlier geéntlemen, that the object of the

Peguiry was not o injure him. as most of them were friendly to (him,
“but to ascertain General Mitchell's connection in the affair. llcdoes
ot recolleet that any pauuul.u- promise was made him,
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He says, on further examination, that General Mitchell did not
know frow him that he intended to cavey the second gang of Africans
to the ageney in the winter of 1817, 1818,

Being asked whether the agent, or soime one for him,did not pur-
chasc or eome lo an andrerstanding yeith him Cor some of the Afvirans?

He answerse s the agent did not purchase any of me. Lhad oy
offers by sundry persons to setl, but not tor the express use e raipli-
ed usey as 1 understund, of General Mitchell. 1 invariably declined
setling any of them to any one,”

Andree Evwin’s affidavit, Mo, 2. This is a very long and verbose
aflidavit—to give you an idea of ity although the witness knows no-
thing personally of the guilt or innocence of General Mitchell, five
folio pages of the affidavit are employed in giving us a history of the
oscillations ol the witness’ mind as to General Mitchell's guilt.
The manher of these vibrations, and the causes which produced them,
are detailed with a minuntencss and prolixity rather amusing than
instructive; until at last, the witness, on the representation of General
Mitchell and Captain Boveen, settles down in the conviction that the
General was entirely innocent ¢ of any concern, interest, og partici-
pation, in the perchase or introduction of the negroes alluded to.”?
According to this witness, Groee also is innocent—unot only innocent,
but, it seems, Mr. Erwin had soine diificulty in appeasing the virtu-
ous indignation of Mr. Grocee, upon the discovery that his partuers
had been concerned in a breach ot the laws. 1 convineed him, I
believe,™ says the witness, with the utmost apparent simplicity, * of
my innocence in any such trade.” T'o make sure work of’ it, however,
he sent or wrote for his son, James Erwin, to Savannah, to explain
the true situation of the business.  James Evwin then came to Au-
gusta, and while there, Mr. Groce returned, and James Erwin then
expressed Ads innocence in the business, as above.  This Mr, Groce,
whose moral delicacy the Messrs. Krwins manifested so much soli-
citude to socthe, is the same Jared K. Groce, whose conversation
with Mr, Breithaupt has been already detailed.  Andrew Erwin
swears, 1 the most positive manner, to usc his own words, *¢ ‘I'hat
Jared E. Groce had no interest in the property,” meaning the ne-
groes, Why then did Andrew Erwin, in his letter to Gen, Mitchell,
by Colonel Morgan, bind the firm ot Erwin, Groce, & Co. to any
amount, without limit, which Colonel Morgan might choose to draw
for, in his negotiations with regard to negroes?

Will it be said, when he wrote that letter he was ignorant of the
fact that Mr. Groce was not interested? But we ave told that there
were iwo firms, Erwin, Groee, & Co. at Angusta, in which My,
Groce was interested; and Erwin & Co. al Suvannah, in which Mp,
Groce was not interested; and Awdrew Erwig does not profess to
have heen ignorant when he wrote the letter that the funds had been
advanced by Erwin & Co. at Savaanah, in which Mr. Groce was
not intevested., By what right, then, did he use the name of Giroce
in that letter? 't he civcumstance is calculated to infuse a strong
suspicion that the witness knows more on this subject than he has

it
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thought proper to disclose.  His guilt or innocence, however, is not
the question, except so far as it may aflect his credit as a witness,
His primary object, and what may be called the business of his aili.
davit, is to exculpate himself from any charge of being involved in
this business: and, in this point of view, it is unfortunate for My,
Erwin, that,in a case so deeply affecting his character, he has not
preseeved the letter from e Mr. Lhomas, who now resides near Mil.
ledgeville, theu, perhups near the agencys from whom he received his
first iutelligence on this subject, nor any copy of his letter in reply,
and that the original answers also, has heen lost by My, Thomas,

The only facts matevial to Gen, Mitchell, which this witness states,
are. Tst, Fhe fact that the whole purchase money for the negroes
was advanced by Erwin & Co.and, consequently, that Gen. Mitchell
is tnmocent of having made any pecuniary contribution to the pur-
chase,

ad. T'he civeumstances which he states to impugn the credit of
Loving, to which I have already adverted,

With respect to the first, however, he admits that for one half of
the advance, individoal notes were placed in the hands of his son;
these notes were anonymously mentioned; why they are so, is not ex-
plained; there may be some motive of mercantile delicacy in the case,
but without mentioning names it would have been easy to have said
that no note in which General Mitchell’s name appeared, was among
them. and, in a case like this, it would have been better to have done
go, even if the caution had heen over abundant.

Jumes Erwin’s offidavit, No, 3. TlLis witness supports the state.
ments of Bowen, as to the partnership with Stantenbry & Thorn; as
to the information which carvied Bowen to Amelia Island; as to the
fuct that all the funds were furnished by frwin & Co. He gives also
his letters of iustruction to Bowen, the first sentence of which is,
o Buy all and every thing you are suve of making moneyon”’  He sup-
ports Bowen in the assertion that the funds sent were vested in ve.

rovs, amdy before the sale was closed, he was consulted by the vendor us
to the cuthority of Bowen to draw on him for the amount,  That he as-
sured the vendor Bowen's bill would be good.  nd, from the impossi-
bility of ecommunicating cven by express with General  ifchell, §c. us
well as from Bowen's private, confidential, and positive communications,
he is confident that General Mitchell had no knowledge of the purchase
and introduction of those negroes.

Joseph Thorw's affidavit, No. 4. In strict accordance with James
Evrwin, he also is of opinion, for the reasons he gives, that it is im-
pussible General Mitchell could have had any knowledge or interest
whatsoever in the purchase or introduction of those negroes into the
Uuited States,

Colonel G. Morgan's affidavit, No. 5. The cffectof this evidence has
been, as to all substantial points, before stated. This witness states
that *¢ from the best information he conld get at the agency,” with what
bie had been told by Jumes Erewin awl his father, James Erwin's
advancing money to Boweu, as well as from a knowledge of their situ-
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ation: at that time, it is his opinion, domdodlv. that’ General Mitchell
had no interest, directly or mdlre(‘tlv. in the pnrchasc, ow‘tmsth,'
and introduction of those African negroes.” :
John 8. Thomas® affidavit, M. 6. He supports all the statemonts of .
Bowen, Andrew Erwin, and General Mitchell, which could be sup-
pried to fall within_the sphere of his observation, and gives it as his
‘decided conviction that General Mitchell not only had no interest or
coicern in the purchase or introduction of the negroes, but was entirely
ignorant of both. . He then states the advice which General Mitchell -
hal given him, to have nothing to do with the purchase of Africans,
&e. +¢ for those who did would not only experience pecuniary loss, but”
destroy their reputation.”  Sound advice, which proves that General
Mitchell wasaware of the illegality and disrcpute of such proceedings.
This John S. Thomas is-the Captain - Thomas who belonged to
Gd-nel'al Mitchell’s family at the agency. Thedeposition opens with
saying ¢ Being called upon by the Governor of Georgia, by autho--
rity. as he states, from the Seomt.u-y of ‘State, &c.; 1mportmq that
the evidence has been given in the presence, and under the superin-
tendence, of the Governor.  This appears not to"have been the fact.
It is certified by H. Allen, who signs-himselt J. J. C. that, on the 6th
of March, 1820, having been: called upon by one of the Secretaries of
the Executive: Departinent of Georgia, to attend at the Executive
‘Chamber in the State House,; for the purpose of taking some deposi-
tioms, John Sherwood Thomas was called; and, appearing, refused
‘to be qudhﬁod orto give evidence in rcg'u'd to his knowledge of the
participation of the Indian agent, ). B. Mitchell, in the illicit intro-
duction of Africans into the United: States, as he said, ¢ on account
of smne communication or wriling madu by himself to one qf the parms
which ke wished first to secure.” ’
It is here proper to give. General l\lltclwll’s view of tlm subject’ of
Captain Thomas® reluctance to give evidence in the case. "Itis in’
these words: - The Governor, I understand, has resorted to various
-expedients to justify his conduct . to (Japtdm ‘Thomas; and, among.
the rest, has obstinately charged him with refusing to give his testi-
mony. But, if Captain ‘I'homas would condescend to make a state-
ment of the facts as they really nccmxcd, it-would cover the Govern-:.
or with shame .and confusion, if he is capable of feeling cither the
one or-the other. = But Capt(un Thomas is diffident and unassuming,
and the Governor, présuming upon that, and an intimacy of long ;
standing between—timself and the family of Captain Thomas, he "
“thought he could manage the Captain as he pleased, by dictating to
- bim the testimony he should give. His first effort was to draw from
the Captain a declaration that he knew nothing about my transac-
tions with the Africans; but.finding that he was not to be surprised
“into an assertion of a falsehood, he then cham.,ctl ‘his tone, and en~
deavored to dragoon him info his measures. ‘L'he integrity of Cap--
tain Thomas, however, bafiled all the arts of his Excellency, and he .
then thought it necessary to throw a shade over his testimony.”
I have before had occasion, sir, to call your "attention to the ex-



T 98 1’ o

: tromo inconveniencies under w hwh ‘ltl 'mgors to the witnesses must la-

~bor in deciding any question of fact, depending_on their characters..
“How impossible would it be, to_infer:this diffidence and want of as-
‘sumpnrm in the: clnamctu' of (Japtam 'l‘hom'xs, frum the fullmvmg
statunent s

¢ Exncv'rnn Orncn, Gmncu,
' "« Milledgeville, 5d April, 1820.

¢ Wo, whose names are hereunto annexed, do hereby certify, that
* on this day, about 3 o’clock; P. M. Captain John S. Thomas entered
‘the Executive office, and mquued from his Excellency-Governor
. Clarke, if he had understood: him' (T'homas) to have said, when
summoned to testify to the Executive office, sometime since, [point-.
i ing back to the tinic mentioned by Mpr. Allmn,] that he declined to
give evidence, then, from having some paper, or document of some
kind, inthe hands of General Mitchell?  The Governor rephcd that
he (‘Thomas) had declined, alleging that *‘ he had a paper in the
hands of one of the parties, which he wished first-to withdraw, as it
‘ m»ght injure him,” and that the Governor understood from his (Cap-
tain Thomas") expression, that the paper spoken of was in-the hands -
-of Mitchiell.  "Thomas then rejoineil, that he did not think the Go-
‘vernor was right; that he thought he had been unstakcn, that he-did
not state, or intend it to be understood, that it was in Mitchell’s hands;
but in the hands of one of the parties interested; ‘some conversation
then cnsued, and the Governor then mentioned, that e, Thomas, had
promised again to call at a particular day and-give his evidence, and
had failed to do it. This was rudely denied by 'I'liomas, and re-as-
serted by the Governors. and, on Thomas’ assuming un insolent tone
and manuer, the Governor inquired, if he had come to the office: with -
.an intention to insult him: and, if that was his intention, lic, the
Governor, wished him to retire.  After some Surther insolent deport-
ment, he said, he (' l‘homas) would retirey and on doing so, exclaimed,
in a loud and menacing tone, ** By the eternal God, 1 “will have aum-
Saction out of you one day or other.”
“ In witness w hclcol we have hicreunto set our q:gnatm'es. o
< DANIEL HUGHES;
*“ WM. F. 8T LILLL ”

W, S. Mitchell. ﬁﬁ‘ulaut Mo, 7. This witness dcc,lmcq his con-
viction of the innocence of the agent; and I hope he'is sincere. It
is the evidence of a son in relation to liis father.  The document will
be before you; and 1 forbear further comment.

James Moss.  Affidavit No. 8,  Was at- the agcm‘y at thc time of
the arvival of the Africans; had xrcqucnt conversations with Bowen,
Long,-and Captain Mitchell, and from none of them was induced to
believe that General Mitchell was, in any way, engaged in the pur-
chase or introduction of the aegroes into the state. He impugns the -
.credit of Johin Lambert, a witness on the other side, because he had
spoken, 1gn0ramly, fro:n learsay; and because Lambert told him
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.there were things put mto his a[ﬁdawt that he did not consent to ha\ e
put in it, &c.
John Binion. ﬂ[ﬁdamh’\". 9. H(, was a captain of cav alry on'
'the Flint:river, stationed at the agency, in January, 1818, Observ-
ing the Africans at the agency, he asked General Mitchell it they
“were for sale? to which he replu.d that they were not, jm he had
pul his thumb upon them; meaning th(-reby, -as he explained, that the
agent had taken them into liis possession, and- repor ted them to-the go-
wrmnmt and that, consequently, he would permit no sale of them.

Colonel Breary y. JAffidavit No. 10. This witness is neutral; he
knows that the Africans were at the agency, but he kvtotos nothlng
of General Mitchell’s guilt or innacence. ‘

MéQueen M Intosh. No. 11. 'This purports to be an ougmal let-
ter from Mr. M+Intosh; to whom addresied does not appeir, Atthe
foot of it is this statement: ¢ This etter, and the extract from MeIn-
‘tosh ] report, which I havu quotcd were sent 10 me by a friend. -

‘ S D.B. M2

The letter exprcssee Me¢Intosh’s opinion, that he was entitled to
one-half of the negroes seized:  T'he motives of M¢Intosh in making
the seizure, are foreign to the question of the agent’s o,mlt. ol

Johm Oliphant. - Affidavit No. 12.. T'his is the same witness whose
evidence has bLeen exhibited in snpport of the charge. - 'This aftida-
vit is subsequent to the former; and the witness here complains that
the magistrates, on the former occasion, would not insert that he had
denied the explanation of the red strings, from the negroes, &c. .

Thomas Rodney.  Affidavit Mo, 15. The witness was employed.
ahout the agency.  About the day before Gen. Mitchell’s departure.
to spend Christmas’ with his famxly (the Christmas of- -1 '17,) Gen.
Mitchell called the witness and directed that, during his absence,
the witness shonld have an eye upon the Africans; that they had been
brought in contrary lo law; and that witness must not suffer any one
to touch the negroes during /ns absence, for that he meant {v report them
“to the government, and they must remain for further orders, &¢.

Let this testimony, offered by Gen. Mitchell, be compared with-
“his'letter to the Secretary of the 'L'reasury, written a few days aﬁer
wards, to wit, on Christmasday. .

George Slerison. Affidavit No. 14. T'his witness chargcs Wllham _
Moore with an attempt to suborn him as a ‘witness to a Dbill of bale
from Tobler, &c.

James l‘hompson. Affidavit No. 15. To the same effect. l‘lns‘
mau is said by Governor Clarke to be a discharged convict from the
Peunsylvania penitentiary; and this to the knowledge of General
Mitchell, when' he took his testimony; which 1 do not, under-atand thL
General as denying.

Timothy Barnard. JAffidavit No. 16. The witness accuscs Wm
Moore of forging an order for money, in his name; and states, that
Moore and Mr. Humphreys (a_justice of peace of the state of Geor-
gia,) had endeavored to prevail upon him to swear to the contrary;
and he believed would forge an alhdfmt in his name-to that cffect.
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The counter aflidavit, with the statement of Mr, Humphreys, will
be found among the papers furnished by Gov, Clarke, and by him
numbered 17,

Wm. S, Mitchell.  Affidurit No, l','.} I have already given the

Dnlay Vanscriver. Affidavit Mo, 18. § effectof these papers. T'heir
tendency is to show, that Moore could not have found in Gen. Mitch.
ell’s desk, the two letters from Bowen, of which he professes to have
furnished capies,

Lodmwick dshley.  Affidavit No. 19. Tmmaterial. A copy of a
depasition in an admirvalty proceeding, concerning these negroes, in
the name of Miguel De Castre, against ninety-four African negroes,
The proceeding must have been fictitious.  "The aftidavit is not sub-
atantially variant from that formerly prescuted from the same
witness,

I have thus endeavored to extract from this vast mass of .commu.
nications and documents, all the facts whicl appear to me to be ma-
tertul.  In the Liborions operation, however, of examining upwards
of seventy separate documents, and some of them very long, and then
comparing them together throughout, and . of connecting and com-
bining the circamstances, dissevered and scattered, as they are,
through such a dark and extensive wilderness, some important cir-
cumstances may have escaped me; and 1 may have thonght some im-
portant, which yon may deem inconsiderable. It will be of some
assistance 10 you, however, to have had the case broken, even in this
imperfect manner; wvd any ervors, that I may have committed, will
be casily corrected, in your own examination of it.

You must, I take it for granted, have been struck with the force
of the three letters alleged 1o have been written by Bowen to Gen,
Mitchell: (that from Drummond®s Bluff, and the two from Milledge-
ville.) Tt will be proper, therefore, to examine the ground on waich
the probability or improbability of those documents rests, and the
answers that have been given to them by the parties interested.

1. Letter from Drummond’s Bluff.

On the 2d November, 1819, when Bowen made his acknowledg-
ment to Governor Ularke, that he had written this letter, no solu-
tion of ity favorable to the innocence of General Mitchell, occurred
to him: for if it had, the solicitude which he has uniformly discovered
ta defend  General Mitchells even, at his own expense, can leave no
doubt that he would have sugeested it.

On the 4th November, 1819, when he published his hand-bill, he
says *'The letter wrate at Drammond’s Bluff' was written by me:
I weote at, without the consenl or knowledge of Generul Mitcheli,”
but still no reasan for writing it is mentioned.  As this hand bill was
intended for the express purpose of vindicating General Mitchell,
this was the time, and this the occasion, that he should have given
an explanation of the purpose, consistent with General Mitchell’s
innocence, if he could.  Bowen is, obviously, a shrewd and acute



e [9‘33.

~ man, and he knew that the wm]d wou]d not be satmﬁed wth bemg'
told, that-he wrote that letter, without the know Ivdbe or consent of
General Mitchell; this. was saying nothing, for it was never pre-
tended that C-eneral Mitchell was dt Drummond’s Bluff on the 25th

" December, 1817, to know or consent to the writing of that letter;

. nor was it at all material to the question of a guilty connection be-

- tween Bowen and-Mitchell. that General Mitchell should have con-
sented, by anticipation, to the writing of such a letter, or that the
arrangement which occasioned it (to wit, the sending on the last par- -
cel by ‘Tobler) should have been made, and . provided for, before
Bowen left the agency. When Bowen, therefore, was stating, in his
hand-bill, that he wrote that letter without General Mitchell’s know- -
ledge or-consent, he could not but know, - that ‘the next question,

“which would occur at once to every inquiring mind, would . be,
“ Why, then, did you weite it2”* - And this question it was material
for lum to have anwercd in this hand bill, at least, if any ‘satisfac-
tory answer was at hand Such an omission, on siuch an occasion,
justifies the conclusion, that he had no answer at hand but that one
wis yet to be sought for. . '

- On-the 5th day of June, 1820, when he gave his dcpnqltmn, he
muld think of no better solution of this difliculty, than ¢ that it -was
pirely to- secure the passage of the property. should it meet difficulty.”’
Tothis, itis answeied, and with a force which 1 cmliwq I cannot resist,
that the letter is not at all'adapred to that purpose; it is, as you will
‘perceive on referving to it, an open avowal, that the negroes were
smuggled in from \moln Istand, and states Bowen's applehcnsmns
‘that they would be seized, before they could be carried through to
theagency. — Suppose Tobler and his party to have been stopped, un-
der a suspicion that-the Africans had been smuggled in, would the
production of that letter, which confessed the very ¢ fact of smuggling,
have removed the suq;ncmn’ Is it not manifest, that its production,.
instead of ‘insuring protection, would have insured the seizure of the
whole party?. Had Bowen been devising a letter for the purpose he
mentions, ‘e has sense cnough to have devised a very different one
from this. ‘There is, in this letter, a minuteness of confidential de-
tails, a friendly familiarity of speculation and advice, exactly adapt-
¢l tu the supposed relation between Bowen and Mitchell, but totally -
unadapted, and most flagrantly hostile, to the purpose avowed. A

Besides, Tobler was turnished 'with- a  bill of sale for the m‘grocq
to himself: for what was this intended? Surely to protect them, in
his own right, if he should meet with dllﬁculty.» Thus he was doubly :
armed; the only misfortunc being, that the one weapon was at direct
war w nth the other, and that they veciprocally destroyed the effect of
buth; for, while the bill of sale affirmed the neg: oes to -be 'l‘oblcl"s,
the letter shewed them to bé Bowen’s.

~ Bowen further atlirms; that he never mtendul this letter to be de-
livered to General Mitclielly and that he so directed the bearer.
“ Why, then, did he write it The purpose he assigns is incredis
bic; and no other is suggested. K ' o
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I have no doubt that the letter was intended to he delivered g
General Mitehell, because T can coneeive no other rational purpose
for which such a letters attending to all its parts. could have been
written, 1 go to Milledgeville by Suvannah, and wish you to keep
the negroes employed until Iean come outlo theagency. 1 have directed
Tohler to take charge of the horses and packs, §c. and lo put the hor.
ses oul in the cane syeamp, and allend fo them.”  Was this reguest
not intended to reach General Mitchell? Why, then, was it insept.
ed? It was not necessary to the purpose of protection, unless, in.
deed, we could be so credulous as to suppose, that by arguing a fa.
miliarity and understanding with General Mitchell, it would act ag
a protection. JU was from white men, however, and citizens of the
Cunited States, that interraption was expected; it was from men to,
as their letter shows, whose suspicions were already broad awake,
as to the violation ot our slave laws, that were going on in that
quarter of the aniony and who were determined to suppress it;
with such men, a letter couched in these terms, had it been weitten
by General Mitchell himselfy instead ot Boweno wonld have afford-
ed no protection, but, on the contrary. wonld Lave insured a sci-
Zure,

Lt appears to me impossible for eredulity itself to scan the terms
of this letter, and to doubt that it was weritten, and sent with the in-
tewtion of being delivered, to General Mitchelly for,_ it seems to me
that there is no other conceivable purpose, within the scope of hu-
man invention, for which it could have been written. On the mo-
ment we reach this conclusion, there is only one further question:
Would Bowen, orany other man in his senses, have sent such a let.
ter to General Mitehelle without any apology. or the semblance of
apology, for so doing: but. on the contrary, with the air of easy
and familiar friendship and confidence, unless authorized to do so
hy the footing on which he knew himself to stand with that gentle-
maa, without a perfect understanding with him before hand? — And,
ift this question must, from the nature of things, be answered in the
negative, the inquiry is at an end; the fact ol a guilty understand.
ing and conncetion between Bowen and the agent is established.

It is true this letter did not veach its place ol destination, It was
not delivered to General Mitchell, because both the letter and bill of
sale were lost by Tobler, lost, U presume, before he had an opportu-
nity of delivering the letter; 1 presume so, because, as it is clear to
my understanding, that the letter conld have been written {or no other
parpose than to be delivered, Lean conceive no reason why it should not
have been delivered, itan opportunity had ocenrred of doing so. 'T'hat
those papers were lost before such opportunity occurred, is rendered
highly probable, by the following civcumstances.  Bowen’s aflidavit
is calculated to give the impressiou, that after parting with "Fobler
and the negroes, at Deammond®s Blaft, he had never seen them again
until after theiv arvival at the agency; that the negroes arrived be-
fore him, and that he found them there on his arvival.  Itis true
hie does not say this explicitly; such, however, is the fair inference
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from his narrative. But he does say, explicitly, that bis inguirics of
Tobler for the letter, were made after the negroes had arrived at the
agency. Now it is important to obscrve, that John Oliphant, the
witness, states that, after landing the negroes in Camden county,
about six miles below camp Pinkney, they proceeded about sixteen
miles on Blackshear’s road, “where 51 Bowen left us about miduight,
and did not join us again until we got in a few days travel of the agen-
cy.” In confirmation of this statement, General Mitchell, in his com-
munication to the Sccretary of War, implies, and Captain Mitcheli
in hig aflidavit expressly states, that Bowen did avrive with the se-
cond parcel of negroes, :

Now, il Bowen was so desirous that the letter from Drummond’s
Bluff should not be scen by the agent, would it not have been natu-
alfor him to have demanded it immediately upon his joining the par-
ty, within a few days travel of the agency? Nay, if it had been in-
tended to be delivered to the agent, yet, inasmuch as the necessity of its
delivery had been superseded by Bowen’s personal presence, and
more particularly as the letter was full of danger both to himself andd
General Mitchell, canit be believed that he would not have demanded
and destroyed it immediately on re-joining the party? Cau it be be-
lieved that he would have travelled for several days, with the party
towards the agency, leaving to "Tobler, an Indian, addicted, it scems,
to habits of intoxication, the custody of a paper which it was no long-
er necessary to preserve, while every moment of its existence was
big with danger both to his friend and himself2 And il with all these
means of prevention, hie did permit ‘Lobler to continue in possession
ol that letter, nay, to carry it to the agency, can it be believed that
he felt all the solicitude he professes, to keep this letter from the
knowledge of the agent? "I'o me the only natural and probable course
scems to he that, whether the letter was originally intended tor Gene-
ral Mitchell’s eye or not, Bowen should have demanded the letter
immediately on rejoining the party, a few days journey from the agen-
cy; 1 belicve that if he deemed it necessary to demand it all, he must
have demanded it there, and that he there received the answer that
it was lost, and consequently that no opportunity cver was afforded
of delivering the letter; hence, the weight which General Mitehell at-
taches to its non-delivery is destroyed, and the solution of this diili-
cult problem which Bowen has labored to extract from the hypothe-
sis that "Tobler had arrived before him, and had not delivered the Jet-
ter, according to his order not to deliver it, is dissipated.  Indeed, it
the letter had been lost after the arrival atthe agencey, and wnong the
usual haunts of the Indians and white people at that place, it is dif-
ficult to conceive how Mr. Bowen conld have regained his compo-
sure and satisfaction at such a discovery, on the supposition that it
would never be found; such a supposition, and such an cfect from it,
would be natural enough, if the letter had been lost in the wilder-
ness, betore he had joined the party, and several days journey from
the agency; but they are both extremely unnatural and improbable,
in relation to the loss of such a document happening at the ageucy,

¢
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amnng the d\w!hnqq of thc penple, whcrc there was ev ery pmbahlh-

ty and almost certainty, that'it- would be found. Fm'llly, if this pa-.

per-was lust at the agency, after the continued opportunity which

Bowen had had, for several days, of prcnntmg such an accident, I
‘repeat ity that he must give up all pnctensums to any concern, from its
“mevting the eye of the agent.

* You will observe that Moore does not profess to have been, hnnscll‘
the finder of this lettér. e received it, tugether with Tobler's bxli
“of sale, from an Indian woman, by the name of Mary. When, and

~wheére, Mary found it, from whom she received it, we are not inform.
ed.. Moore's impression is, that it was lost by Tobler, at the agency.
Be it so; of one thing we are certain—that Bowen wrote the letter;
.and there is no rational doubt that it was: nmgmally written with the
intention of being delivered to Gen. Mitchell. Weare certain of another
thing, that, if the letter reached the agency in the charge of "Tobler,
it wasbecause Bowen felt no solicitude about its fate.

The letters of the 7th and 23d March, from M:Iledgcullc, are next
to be considered.  Notwithstanding the strong negative proof fur-
nished by Gen. Mitchell, these letters carry with them an internal
proof.of their own genuineness, which, when compared with the ac-
knnwl(d:;rd ietter from Drommond's Bluff, with the other circum-
stances in thecase, and with Gen. Mitchell’s whole conduct, through-
out, it 'is-very diflicult-to resist. And when, to these: violent pre-
sumptions, we add Bowen’s alrupt evasions of Gov. Clarke’s inter-
rogatories on this subject, (so much like the cowardly flinching of a
guilty conscience; and so utterly unlike the intrepid opeuness of con- .
scious innocence,) 1 confess “that I*have little doubt that the letters
were written by Bowen.  Gov. Clar l\o s romarks on thcsc lctters are
well worthy your attention. - '
" The results of this c\.lmmatlon .1"9, :

- First. "Uhat there 'is no proot that GCI]CI‘AI Mltclu‘ll made any
pecaniary advan-e for the purchase of these negroes.

Second. ‘Fhat there is no proof that hie had any personal agency
in the pulch.nc or introduction ‘of them, .

“Thivd, "T'hat there.is no proof that he had any knnwledgc of this
specific purchase, :md mtmduwon, untll the negroes. arrived at the;
agency. -
, "Fourth.. But that there is plt‘sumptnc proof that ‘there was a
previous general understanding, at least, between Bowen and him, on
which Bowen founded his whulc plan of opex ations in rcgax-d to those
negroes, . )

T'hese circumstances ave, . ' e

First. Fhe conversations imputed tn General MltChL" by the wit--
nesses Loving and Woodward, and -the conversation of Groce. wnth
Breithaupt, as explained by subsequent acts. ‘

*Second. The connexion ‘of General Mitchell with Bowen in the
distriiution of the $10,000 worth of goods at Fort Hawkins, in July,
1817, mentioned by Captain Melvin, and the fact in this very month
(when too lzmual Mitchell acknowlegcs that he had seen him,)
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Bowen set out on. the e*cpedntlon, which tcrmmmd in the purchase of
the negroes.

Third. The fact of his taking the negrocs. to the agency

Fourth. His reception there, which was just such as the conversa-
‘tiens related by Loving and Wondward, and that related by Breit-
haupt as being held by him with Groce, made it natural to expect:
for Bowen, so far from being molested for what he had done, iy per-
mitted to return to Amelia Island, and repeat the offence.
~ Fifth. General Mitchell’s wlwlu conduct in the affair, which is in
strict consonance with those conversations, and with the by pothcsns
of such a previous understanding with Bowen.

But let it be admitted that t/me was no such previous umlers!amlmg,
and that General Mitchell not only had no concern, of any kind, in
the purchase and introduction of those negroes, but that he was wholly
ignorant of their purchase and mtrodugtwn un!lt their arrival ut tlw,
ageicy; yet,

Fifth. His comluct, aftcr their arr wat at the u"rm'_[, isyin my opl-
nion, uttel'ly inconsistent with the supposition of his innocence.

General Mitchell admits, in his letter of the 25th December, 1817,
that he was fully apprized of the solicitude of this government to sup- .
press the African slave trade: and, if his witness, 'Fhomas, is to be
believed, he was also perfectly aware both of the danger and disre-
pute of having any thing to do with such a business. He mast, inthe
mature of things, have been perfectly apprized of the odium which'
was attached to it, ‘not only in Georgia, but in every other- palt"
of the Union, among respectable men,

"Thus informed, let us .inquire how it would h'nc been mtural for.
a man of common-intelligence, and of ordinary pride of character, to
have acted, when, on the 8th Dec. 1817, he discovered. that Bu“cn
had darved to intrude himself into the agency, with hall a:hundreed of -
smuggled African negroes; a measure so divectly and inevitably cal
culated to throw upon the agent public suspicton and intumy? Would”
not his m(hguatmn havé been-excited-to the highest: plt('h, at suchan,
-act of audacity; and must he not have seen that nothing. could -save -
him from the covsequence of such .a step, but the most prompt and -
rigorous - measu s of resistance?” Would he not. uwt«mt(ummsly have.
seized the culprit and given him up to the laws of his countey? Would
he not have immediately given up_the uegroes to the Governor of the
state within whose. constitutional liniits and juvisdiction the agency
was established? And would he not, Torthwith, have forwardod (\fultn
and fuir veport of the whole case to the government, whose oflicer he
was? Such, it seems to.me, would cutamh have been the course of
any man, even of common intelligence and prudence, so circumstane- -
edy and this for his own sake, putting aside every incentive of patriot-
iswy for'such a course would have repelied every suspicion which the
presumption of Bowen was calculated to throw upon him, and have
placed his purity beyond the veach of question. ’ :

Huw different was llu- conese parsticd by Gen, \lmlu‘ll’ Intelli-
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gent, pmud of character, and encrgetic, as he seems to be, instead of
arresting Bowen, he permits him to veturn to Amelia Island, and re.
peat the “offence by bringing another cargo of Africans to the agency.
fnstead of lmndm;- over the negroes to tln- cxecntive of the state, he
makes no communication of facts whatever, so far as the proofy
speak, to that executive, until after the scizure by Mclntosh; and,
to his own government, (whom he was bound, by his. duty, to keep
correctly informed.t he writes only the letters of the 25th December,
1817, and 3d February, 1818, hotli of which are calc:lated to mislead
the government as (o the true state of the case, for both keep out of
view the donhle importation by Bowens both :cplcsunt the negroes
as heing all wones from ne ither could the government infer that there
was any case, actually pending at the agencey, on which their counsel
was adlked, for botl: Tetters treat the case as if finally dispased of;
nor was there any disclosure of the buportant fact that nearly one
Il of the negroes were yet at the agency, until the explosion pro-
duced by Meintosh rendered longer concealment impossible, and
rohbed the sulisequent diselosure, on the part of the agent, of all pre-
tewsions to merit,

But, what is wopse, while the government was thus kept in the
dark, Geno Mitehelly wnder color of an obsolete law of Georgia,
wholly inapplicable to the casey and which, if it had been in full force
and vigor, and wlso applicable, he well knew gave fim no_power to
act, gives up to Groce one half of these Africans, with a passport
which anthovized him to carry them to the place for which he knew,
as appears by his communications, that they had been oviginally pur-
chasedy thus lending the authority of his oflice to aid in the consum-
mation of a conscious breach of the laws.

U'he other hall are detained at the agency,  Why?  Because, says
Mitchell, he was waiting the ovders of the government, when he had
reported no case calling for any orders; because, says Bowen, it wa
necessary for him (Bowen) to go back to (-(m"'m and get mlx(-r
security to bond this parcel too,  Between them, lm\\(-vcr there the
negroes remained until they were seized by McQueen Meclntosh.

That Gen. Mitchell should suffr the agency under his command
to be made a place of rendezvous for smu"'rl(-(l African negroes; that
he should make the government no fair 1 'vp(nt of the case; that he
should co-operate with the violaters of the law in the execution of
their purpose, and that under so flimsy a pretext as the law of Geor-
gia of 1706; that he should reduce himself to the degrading necessity
ul‘ubt tining from the culprit, whom he ought, in UIL fnst instance,
to have scized and dragged to punishment, a certificate that he,
Mitehell, had no concern in the afjuir, as Bowen states he did; and
that he should do all this without reward, and from an innocent mis-
tuhe of the law, would certainly be a very charitable conclusion; but,
as it would, also, in my opinion, be a very irrational one, especially
tn vegard to aman of Gen Mitehiell's superior understanding, I am
constrained to adopt the conclusion (painful as it is,) that Gencral
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Mitchell is guilty of having prostituted his pover, as agent for Indian
affuirs at the Creck agency, to the purpose of aiding and assisting in a
conscions breach of the act of Congress of 1807, in prokibition of the
slave trade, and wHis from mercenary molives.

L have the honor to remain, Sir,

Most respecttully,
Your obedient servant,
WM. WIRT.
The PRESIDENT of (he United States.



